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VISION
To be the leading multi-platform directory search & advertising 

solutions provider

MISSION
Helping buyers make purchase decisions and execute the purchase 

transaction anywhere anytime
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Established in 1967, Yellow Pages (Singapore) Limited is the largest publisher of directories and provider of classified directory advertising 
and associated products and services in Singapore. We maintain, develop and update extensive classified databases of information on 
businesses, the core of which are small and medium-sized enterprises in Singapore. 

The Group’s principal activities are in the sale of advertising in, and the preparation and publication of, classified directories that connect 
businesses to businesses (B2B) and businesses to consumers (B2C) in both print and digital form.  The Group’s Internet Yellow Pages (IYP) is 
the most comprehensive online directory in Singapore and was ranked as the #1 website in the Business and Finance category – Business 
Directories 2006 in the Hitwise Singapore Online Performance awards programme.

In March this year, the Group successfully blazed a new trail with the soft launch of its enhanced IYP and Mobile Yellow Pages (MYP). MYP 
is Singapore’s first mobile directory that allows users to access shopping, dining and business information on their mobile phones.  

The Company was listed on the SGX-ST on 9 December 2004.

Our Corporate Structure

Notes: 

(1) The remaining 51 percent shareholding in Integrated Databases India Ltd is held by Aroon Purie and his nominiees/associates, which include World  

 Media India Ltd. (previously known as World Media Pvt.Ltd), Living Media India Ltd., Thomson Press India Ltd., Rekha Purie and Ankoor Purie. 

(2) The remaining 50 percent shareholding in Forward Media Sdn Bhd is held by Brunei Press Sdn Bhd, our partner in Brunei Darussalam.
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Thinking of Popping
    the Question?

ring?

bouquet?
restaurant?



We’ll be right there with you...
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(1/2): Richemont Luxury (S) 
Pte Ltd  67344986501 Orchard Rd #12-00 

Wheelock Pl-MobileYP-Pls reply <help> 4 tips

77777 

(2/2): Coral Village Bistro Llp  

62979453

269 Beach Rd Singapore-

M
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Renovations?

L-shape sofa?

wallpaper?

Roller 
   Blinds?

Carpets?



We’ll walk you through them



Preparing For 
 Your First Child?

Daycare 
 Centres?

Childrens Wear?

Schools?

Toys?



Let us show you the way...



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

This year, we succeeded in 
achieving revenue growth, albeit a 

modest increase, for the fi rst 
time in almost a decade, and 

putting the online directory on a 
brand new platform. 
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

This has been a most eventful year for 
the company. 

Last year, the job was to slow the rate 
of decline in revenues, not least by 
increasing usage of both print and 
online directories and increasing growth 
in niche directories. This year, we 
succeeded in achieving revenue growth, 
albeit a modest increase, for the fi rst time 
in almost a decade, and putting the online 
directory on a brand new platform. We 
boosted our promotional expenditures 
to raise brand awareness, and launched 
the enhanced Internet Yellow Pages (IYP) 
product in March.

The achievement of stemming the nine 
year decline in revenue refl ects a great 
deal of hard work by your management 
and staff. 

As you our shareholders know, Yellow 
Pages is arguably the most respected 
name in directories globally. It is the 
one product where practically all the 
businesses in Singapore are listed. We 
now ensure that our Buying Guide goes 
to every home in the country, something 
no other local publisher can match. The 
user of our directory uses it when he/she 
has a need for information, and is looking 

for a specifi c service or item to buy. When 
he/she picks up the directory, chances 
are he/she will see the most striking, 
information-rich advertisements. Our 
sales force is trained to convey that 
message to advertisers. Our 
advertisers are encouraged 
to work with our salespeople 
on how best to tell their story 
to the consumer.

That is the Yellow Pages 
value proposition to 
advertisers, and we 
seek to enhance the 
benefi ts to users, and 
thus responsiveness to 
advertising.

FY2007 Performance and 
Dividend

This strategy of focusing on 
sales has paid off, with FY2007 
registering a 1.6% increase in 
revenue to S$59.0 million, the 
fi rst top-line increase since 
FY1998.

We had to invest in systems 
and people to get there, and 
consequently FY2007 showed 

11



an earnings decline of 13.1%, to S$12.6 
million.

The Board has proposed a fi nal dividend 
of 4.0 cents per ordinary share.  Together 
with an interim dividend of 3.5 cents 
per ordinary share, which was paid out 
in December 2006, the proposed total 
dividend for the year would be 7.5 cents 
per ordinary share.  This represents a 
payout of close to 100% of the company’s 
profi t.

Board  and Governance Matters
Turning to Board matters, there has been 
considerable change in the composition 
of your Board. Early in 2007 we bade 
farewell to two directors who had been 
with the company since its IPO. Dr Chris 
Heine and Mr Stephen King, who were 
non-independent directors, had been 
strong contributors to Board discussions, 
and we thank both of them for their 
contributions over a number of years.

In their place we appointed three new 
directors. Mr Peter Buxton (Independent), 
who is an internationally recognised 
expert on our industry, brought much 
appreciated directories expertise. Mr 
Stanley Tan (Non Independent) had 
extensive publishing and advertising 

sales expertise and Mr Pang Yoke Min 
(Non Independent) had built a successful 
marine business from scratch, which he 
then listed. Mr Tan and Mr Pang, together 
with their vehicle Global Advisory, own 
some 27.4% of your company.

Together with these new directors, we 
examined the strategic direction of the 
company, the main lines of which were set 
at the IPO in late 2004. Bringing fresh eyes, 
and in Mr Buxton, much valued directories 
experience, these new directors have 
actively participated in the whole Board’s 
analysis of all aspects of our business. Two 
Committees of the Board were formed to 
focus on both Business Development and 
Capital Management issues.

A Board and senior management retreat 
in April allowed us to debate openly the 
options available to us. A set of new 
strategic initiatives were collectively 
agreed. The Business Development 
Committee is working with management 
on turning these initiatives into reality.

On May 22nd, Mr Tan and Mr Pang sent in 
a Requisition for an EGM to remove four 
independent directors, and the CEO, from 
the Board. Subsequently, both Mr Buxton 
and Mr Goh, our CEO, resigned from the 

Board. On June 26th, Mr Tan and Mr Pang 
withdrew the resolutions proposed by them 
in the Requisition.

The requisition for the EGM has diverted 
management and Board attention from 
addressing the new strategic initiatives. It 
is to be hoped that the company can now 
move forward constructively to implement 
those initiatives, but to this task we must 
add that of recruiting a new CEO.

The publicity surrounding this process 
has inevitably confused shareholders and 
some advertisers, which was refl ected in 
our recent canvass. 

The ensuing debate and dialogue which 
we have consequently had with many of 
our shareholders, has on balance, been 
the one positive aspect of this situation for 
the company.  We are clearer about what 
will work, and our governance has been 
tested and validated.

I would like to record my appreciation 
to Mr Goh Sik Ngee for his service to 
the company. He joined the company 
when it was purchased from SingTel by 
fi nancial investors. He worked with them 
on reshaping what had been a small part 
of a large company into a focused, listed, 
directories business.
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He served as Chairman and CEO after 
the IPO, and I took over the Chair from 
him in 2005.  Sik Ngee has resigned, and 
his reasons have been fully reported 
to the Board and shareholders. We 
are looking for a new CEO, and we are 
grateful that Sik Ngee is holding the fort 
while this search is conducted.

Our CFO, Melissa Wan, who has been with 
the company since 1999 has announced 
her retirement, for personal reasons. All 
shareholders and directors should be 
proud of the tight ship Melissa has run, 
and we wish her well.

Appreciation
Finally, I would like to record my thanks 
to the following directors, for their 
contributions:

Helen Yeo,  who retired on July 3rd. 
Since joining the Board, immediately prior 
to the company’s IPO, she has contributed 
meaningfully to Board debates and spent 
much time with senior management 
during her tenure as Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee.

Peter Buxton made significant 
contributions in his short stay on the 
Board, which included helping us to 
evaluate our own directories business in 
relation to our peers worldwide.

Bill Foo has chaired the Audit Committee 
since the IPO, and been an active member 
of the other key committees.

Dr Richard Helfer, who also joined the 
board immediately prior to the IPO, chairs 
the Remuneration Committee, and formerly 
chaired the Nominations Committee. He 

has further actively chaired the Business 
Development Committee as we have 
debated and begun implementing the new 
strategic initiatives.

All have been disciplined and thoughtful 
contributors, bringing their respective 
technical/managerial skills to bear as so 
required.

Your company has been well served by 
these directors.

You will recall that the Independent 
Directors, Ms Yeo, Mr Foo, Dr Helfer and 
myself, had undertaken, in their statement 
of 3 June 2007, that they would only stay 
for such period of time as is necessary 
to appoint new Independent Directors to 
the Board.  

The Nominations Committee, made up of 
Dr Helfer, Mr Foo and chaired by myself, 
has actively undertaken the search 
for new Independent Directors.  The 
search has been conducted in a diligent 
manner to ensure that the composition 
of the Board going forward will be both 
balanced and focused on what is in the 
best interest of the Company and all its 
shareholders.  In this regard, please join 
me in welcoming Messrs Victor Ang, Prof 
Tan Cheng Han, Simon Meers, and Ng 
Tiong Gee to the Board.

You will fi nd their bio datas elsewhere in 
this Report, and you will be asked to vote 
on their re-election at the coming AGM. 
As they take up their new roles, I am 
confi dent you will fi nd that they will provide 
entrepreneurial energy, as well as a robust 
governance framework for the company. 

Upon their being re-elected by you, our 
shareholders, Dr Helfer, Mr Foo and I 
will retire.

You will also be asked to vote on the 
re-election of Messrs Stanley Tan and 
Pang Yoke Min, and again you will find 
the necessary information on them in 
this Report.

I would also like to acknowledge our 
management and staff who have 
engineered the turnaround in our print 
sales, and started us on the exciting 
road to the development of a web based 
directories business. Of course we must 
record our appreciation to our advertisers 
and business partners, for their continuing 
confi dence in Yellow Pages.

Finally, as I say farewell to you, our 
shareholders, who have been taking an 
active interest in our performance, and 
in the Board, may I make the request that 
you give your new Board members your 
continued strong support, as they strive to 
make YPS the best directories business in 
the region.

Robert M Tomlin
Chairman
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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Year in Review
FY2007 was a signifi cant year for Yellow 
Pages. The Group achieved a 1.6% 
increase in revenue to S$59.0 million – 
the fi rst top-line increase recorded since 
FY1998. This indicates that efforts and 
investments to tap the potential for print 
and digital directories are bearing fruit. 
Both the Singapore Phone Directories 
(SPD) and Internet Yellow Pages (IYP) 
contributed to the stronger performance. 

Total expenses increased by 8.1% to 
S$46.2 million. This was mainly due to 
investments in both systems and people 
to accelerate the growth of the Group’s 
digital business and to strengthen its 
sales and marketing units. The prior 
year’s bottomline had also been boosted 
by write-back in excess provision 
for FY2005’s staff bonus and higher 
write-back of doubtful debt provision, 
amounting to a total of S$1.3 million.  As 
a result, the Group’s operating profit 
(before interest, tax and share of results 
of associated companies) declined 
by 10.3% to S$19.7 million. The Group 
achieved a net profit of S$12.6 million, 
13.1% lower than the S$14.5 million 
achieved in the previous year.

OPERATIONS REVIEW

The Group’s net profi t fi gures are in line 
with its guidance that FY2007 earnings 
would be lower than that of FY2006.

The Group’s balance sheet remains strong 
with an operating cash fl ow of S$19.2 
million and a cash balance of S$31.7 
million. 

Print Directories 
In FY2007, SPD revenue rose by 0.8% 
to S$51.7 million. This was mainly 
attributable to the Group’s ongoing efforts 
to expand revenue streams and deepen 
market penetration of its print directories. 
During the year under review, the Group 
invested in the strengthening of its sales 
and marketing units. It also continued with 
operational improvements introduced 
earlier, such as the door-to-door delivery 
of the SPD (which is into its second year) 
and innovative sales and marketing 
enhancements and promotions. 

The Group’s efforts have yielded results. 
The Group increased its advertiser 
retention rate from 78.0% in FY2006 to 
79.9% in FY2007 - a historical high since 
the FY1998 edition. Correspondingly, 
the number of advertisers rose by 3.3%, 

from 11,574 advertisers in FY2006 to 
11,956 advertisers in FY2007. Usage 
of print directories also registered an 
increase of 20%. 

Online Services 
During the year under review, IYP
continued to perform strongly with revenue 
surging by 74.3% to S$2.7 million. The 
number of new IYP advertisers contracted 
rose 17.0% to 3,579 while IYP sales 
contracted jumped 53.9% to S$3.8 million. 

As recognition of the popularity of the 
Group’s online services, Internet Yellow 
Pages was ranked as the #1 website 
in the Business and Finance category 
– Business Directories 2006 in the latest 
Hitwise Singapore Online Performance 
awards programme. The IYP is the 
most comprehensive online directory in 
Singapore, enabling users to conduct 
searches by product, service, brand name, 
company name or geographical location. 

To accelerate growth, the Group invested 
more than S$1 million in its online 
services, including the upgrading of the 
search engine powering its IYP.
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With these enhanced capabilities and 
resources, the Group blazed a new trail 
with the soft launch of Mobile Yellow 
Pages (MYP) and introduced enhanced 
features and functionality for IYP in 
March 2007. 

MYP is Singapore’s fi rst mobile directory 
that allows users to access shopping, 
dining and business information on their 
mobile phones. Available to users on 
SingTel, M1 and StarHub mobile networks, 
MYP provides anytime, anywhere 
location-based information such as 
company names, brands, products and 
services. In addition, the Group’s re-
launched IYP also enjoyed a signifi cant 
increase in capacity, speed and search 
capability.

In this digital age, both the enhanced IYP 
and MYP are set to be signifi cant growth 
drivers for the Group’s digital business in 
future years. 

Outlook
Looking ahead, the Group’s print 
directories business in Singapore 
will continue to be its main revenue 
contributor in the foreseeable future. 

To deepen market penetration of print 
directories, the Group will continue to 
make operational investments, leveraging 
on increased usage to realize the revenue 
potential in Singapore. 

The Group will continue to innovate and 
create more useful and friendly directories 
to meet the needs of consumers. This 
includes reconfi guring existing products 
to make them more user-friendly and 
the development of new products that 
cater to special needs of specifi c user 
segments. The Group will also fi ne-tune 
its circulation policy to increase effective 
usage, enhance its advertising and 
promotional initiatives and adopt a more 
industry-targeted sales strategy.  

In the area of digital business, the Group 
expects to benefi t from the robust growth 
demand for online services. Besides 
converting print advertisers, IYP will 
enable the Group to tap on the larger 
pool of non-advertisers traditionally not 
served by print directories. International 
experience has shown that IYP creates 
opportunities for incremental growth 
in both revenue and the number of 
advertisers.

Currently, the Group has another 19,000 
print advertisers overseas through its 
subsidiaries in Malaysia and associated 
companies in India and Brunei. The Group 
will explore opportunities for its IYP 
services in these markets. 

With the Group’s first-mover advantage, 
strong domain knowledge in this digital 
sector, and commitment to maintain 
leading edge technologies and 
capabilities, the Group is poised to 
tap the growth potential of this digital 
business segment. 
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SPECIAL REPORT

Requisition for EGM and Removal of 
Independent Directors and CEO
On 22 May 2007, the company received 
a requisition for an Extraordinary 
General Meeting (EGM) to remove four 
Independent Directors as well as the 
company’s Executive Director.  The 
requisition was submitted by Citibank 
Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd (Citibank 
Nominees) on behalf of Messrs Stanley 
Tan and Pang Yoke Min.  Messrs Stanley 
Tan and Pang Yoke Min, together with 
Global Advisory Group (in which both of 
them are shareholders), hold 27.4% of 
the company’s shares.

It is the right of any shareholder, or 
shareholders, holding in aggregate 
more than 10% of shares, to request 
for an EGM to remove directors of the 
company.  In this case, the Companies’ 
Act allows these directors to make their 
case to shareholders why they should 
remain.  A number of statements and 
announcements were subsequently 
made by the relevant parties through 
SGXNET in relation to the requisition.  

The company convened an EGM 
scheduled to be held on 28 June 2007.  

The requisition was subsequently 
withdrawn by Citibank Nominees on 26 
June 2007.  At the EGM on 28 June 2007, 
shareholders were informed that the 
requisition has been withdrawn.

The additional costs of organising and 
holding an EGM, will affect FY2008’s 
financial performance.

New Nominees for the Board
The Independent Directors in their 
statement dated 3 June 2007, which 
was dispatched to all shareholders with 
the EGM Notice, stated that they would 
only stay on the Board for such limited 
time as would be necessary to assist in 
the appointment of new independent 
directors. Once new independent 
directors are appointed, the current 
Independent Directors would step 
down. 

All nominees to the Board must submit 
their personal particulars to the 
Nominations Committee, which makes 
recommendations to the Board on all 
Board appointments.  According to the 
Code of Corporate Governance, the 
Nominations Committee is chaired by 
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SPECIAL REPORT

an independent director and must be 
made up of a majority of independent 
directors.

The Nominations Committee, made up 
of Dr Helfer, Mr Foo and chaired by 
Mr Robin Tomlin, undertook the search 
for new Independent Directors.  The 
search was conducted in such manner 
to ensure that the composition of the 
Board going forward would be both 
balanced and focused on what is in the 
best interest of the Company and all its 
shareholders.

The Nominations Committee was guided 
by its Board-approved written terms of 
reference, which serves to ensure a 
formal and transparent process for the 
nomination of directors to the Board.  
The Nominations Committee also 
considers the independence criteria of 
the independent nominees/directors.

The Nominations Committee received 
a number of nominations from 
various sources, including the larger 
shareholders.  These nominees were 
subjected to rigorous review and 
scrutiny.  They were evaluated on a 

range of criteria, including professional 
experience, domain knowledge, and 
experience on other Boards.

The Independent Directors have 
ensured that the selection of new 
independent directors complies with 
the stringent selection process as set 
out by the regulators.  We are pleased 
that four new independent directors, 
Prof Tan Cheng Han, Messrs Victor Ang, 
Simon Meers, and Ng Tiong Gee (their 
backgrounds and proposed roles on 
the Yellow Pages Board are detailed 
on pages 22 and 23), have joined the 
Board. 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Robert Michael Tomlin

Mr Tomlin joined us as Chairman of the Board of Directors and a non-executive 
Director on 1 September 2005, bringing great strength and depth to the Company with 
his 37 years of investment banking experience in Singapore, New York and London. 
He is currently Vice Chairman, Asia of UBS Investment Bank. Prior to this he spent 
30 years with the Schroder Group in London, latterly as CEO, S E Asia. Mr Tomlin is 
also a director of Olam International, Mediacorp, and of other education and arts 
groups in Singapore. Mr Tomlin studied Modern European Languages in Cambridge, 
and took his MBA at Harvard. He was re-elected our Director on 31 July 2006.

Foo Say Mui a.k.a Bill Foo

Mr Foo is the Managing Director of ANZ Singapore Ltd and the General Manager 
of the Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Ltd, Singapore Branch. Mr Foo is 
also the Commissioner on the board of PT ANZ - Panin Bank (Indonesia). He was a 
director of Schroders International Merchant Bankers Ltd. Previously, Mr Foo was 
the regional head and a director of Schroders’ investment banking arm for Southeast 
Asia. In addition, he is a former President Director of PT Schroders (Indonesia). Mr 
Foo is currently a council member of the Singapore Investment Banking Association 
and the Association of Banks in Singapore. Mr Foo holds a Bachelor of Business 
Administration from Concordia University and a Masters of Business Administration 
from McGill University. He was appointed and re-elected our Director on 29 October 
2004 and 22 July 2005, respectively.

Pang Yoke Min

Mr Pang is Chairman of Pacific Radiance Ltd., an investment company involved in 
shipbuilding, shipowning and chartering for the oil and gas and marine industries, and 
Chairman of YM Investco Pte. Ltd., a family investment holding company.  Previously, 
he was Group Managing Director of Jaya Holdings Ltd from 1981 to 2006.  Mr Pang 
was appointed our Director on 6 February 2007.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Dr Richard Charles Helfer

Dr Richard Charles Helfer is Chairman of RCH International Pte Ltd, a strategic 
tourism/hospitality organization providing conceptualization, through to operational 
management of hotel/resort/tourism projects.  Dr Helfer is currently a member of the 
Board of China Powerplus Limited, Preservation of Monuments Board (Singapore), 
Sculpture Square Limited and The Old Parliament House Limited. Dr Helfer is also 
strategic advisor to select governments and organizations, including being Senior 
Advisor, at Cabinet Level, to the Royal Government of Cambodia, Advisor to Kingdom 
Hotel Investments, Credit Suisse and the CCM group of Companies, Indonesia. 

Dr Helfer served as founding Chairman and CEO of Raffles International Limited 
from 1989 to 2003 and concurrently as President and CEO of Raffles Holdings Limited 
from 1995 until 2003.  During this period, Dr Helfer was also a member of the Senior 
Management Committee of DBS Land Limited and later its successor CapitaLand 
Limited. Under his leadership, Raffles expanded from one 103-suite hotel in Singapore 
to thirty-six hotels/resorts, with over 12,000 rooms, in thirty-one destinations across 
Asia, Europe, the Middle East, and the Americas. Prior to the years at Raffles, Dr 
Helfer was a senior executive at Westin Hotels and Resorts. Over a period of 18 years 
he was involved in the development and operation of a number of international luxury 
hotels/resorts in Canada, the United States and Singapore. 

Dr Helfer holds a Bachelor’s (Honors) in Hotel & Restaurant Management from 
Michigan State University as well as a Doctorate of Business Administration in 
Hospitality Management, from Johnson & Wales University.  He was appointed  and 
re-elected our Director on 29 October 2004 and 22 July 2005, respectively

Stanley Tan Poh Leng

Mr Tan is a director and founder of the investment company, Global Advisory Group 
Pte. Ltd., and Chief Executive Officer of The Angliss Property Group, his principal 
vehicle for property investment in Australia.  He was a director and founder of The 
Grand Pacific Investment Group which was involved in publishing and paper related 
businesses, before it was subsequently sold. 

On the community front, Mr Tan holds key volunteer positions in several charity 
organisations, including Beyond Social Services, MILK (“Mainly I Love Kids”), the 
National Volunteer & Philanthropy Centre and the Singapore Red Cross.  He was 
awarded as Honorary Officer to the New Zealand Order of Merit in 2002 for services 
rendered to Singapore – New Zealand relations.  Mr Tan was appointed our Director 
on 6 February 2007.
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Victor Ang 

Mr Victor Ang is Chairman & CEO of Chesapeake Technologies Pte Ltd, and is an 
entrepreneur with investments in financial services, technology and real-estate.

Mr Ang is Vice Chairman of IPP Financial Services Holdings Ltd, a personal wealth 
management company based in Singapore.  He is also a board member of MESDAQ-
listed Malaysian technology company Tricubes Berhad.  Mr Ang hold investments in 
real estate developments in Europe and Asia, and has until recently also served as 
Chairman of Singapore based software start-ups and a compound semi-conductor 
manufacturer, MBE Holdings Pte Ltd.

Graduating from Nottingham University with a first in chemical engineering, Mr 
Ang served with Shell Singapore as a refinery technologist.  He subsequently made 
a career shift into information technology, initially with IBM UK, then ICL in the 
United Arab Emirates, returning to Singapore as Managing Director of Hewlett-
Packard Corporation’s Singapore and Malaysia sales operations.  His ten year ser-
vice with HP included Managing Director positions in the Far East and Asia Pacific 
Regions.  Mr Ang was also President and CEO of Singapore-listed ST Computer 
Systems and Services Ltd.

At various points in his career Mr Ang also served as Board Member of Singapore 
Science Centre, was Chairman of the School Executive Committee of a public school, 
and also Chairman of the Fund-Raising Committee of the Singapore Community Chest, 
a charity.  He also qualified as Barrister-at-Law and is married with one son. Mr Ang 
was appointed our Director on 6 August 2007

Ng Tiong Gee

Mr Ng is the Senior Vice-President of Human Resources (SVP, HR) and Chief 
Information Officer (CIO) of STATS ChipPAC. He was appointed as CIO in May 2001 
and SVP, HR in February 2007. Mr. Ng was previously the Chief Information Officer 
of Gateway Singapore, heading the technology MNC’s IT activities in Asia Pacific. 
Prior to that, he spent over six years at Siemens Components (now known as Infineon 
Technologies Asia Pacific) where he last served as Director of Information Systems 
and Services. Between 1988 and 1992, he held various key engineering positions at 
Digital Equipment Singapore, now part of Hewlett Packard.  

Mr Ng graduated with a Bachelor of Mechanical Engineering with honours from 
the National University of Singapore in 1987. He also holds an MBA from the 
Nanyang Technological University in Singapore. He has also attended the Advanced 
Management Program in Harvard Business School. Mr Ng was appointed our Director 
on 6 August 2007.
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Professor Tan Cheng Han

Professor Tan Cheng Han is the Dean of the Faculty of Law at the National University 
of Singapore. Prior to this, he was a Partner in M/s Drew & Napier’s litigation 
department. His other appointments include being a Vice-President of the Singapore 
Academy of Law, a Senate member of the National University of Singapore, a Governor 
of the Asian Law Institute, a member of the Securities Industry Council, a member of 
the Competition Commission of Singapore, a member of the Appeal Advisory Panel to 
the Minister of Finance, a member of the Military Court of Appeal and a member of 
the Board of Legal Education.

He serves on the Boards of Singapore Computer Systems Limited,  Chuan Hup Holdings 
Limited, ST Marine Limited, Anwell Technologies Limited, Exploit Technologies Pte 
Ltd, Centillion Limited and NTUC Income.

Professor Tan was appointed Senior Counsel at the Opening of the Legal Year in 2004 
and was named one of the three Young Global Leaders from Singapore by the World 
Economic Forum in January 2005. He was awarded the Public Administration Medal 
(Silver) in 2006.

Professor Tan graduated from the National University of Singapore in 1987 and 
obtained his LLM from the University of Cambridge in 1990. He was appointed our 
Director on 6 August 2007.

N. Simon Meers 

Mr Meers is the Managing Director and Head of Asia for ACA Capital.  ACA Capital 
is a specialty finance company that focuses on asset management and proprietary 
investments in the global credit markets.

Prior to this, he was the Director of Structured Credit at Artesian Capital Management 
based in Sydney where he ran the Structured Credit trading book.  Artesian Capital is 
a US-based credit arbitrage hedge fund. Prior to joining Artesian, Mr Meers was the 
Senior Vice President of ACE Financial Solutions based in New York.  He has also worked 
at AIG Risk Finance in New York and Deutsche Bank Global Markets in Sydney.

Mr Meers holds a Masters of Applied Finance from Macquarie University in Sydney, 
a Graduate Diploma in Applied Finance and Investment from the Securities Institute 
of Australia and a Bachelor of Commerce from the Australian National University. Mr 
Meers was appointed our Director on 6 August 2007.
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KEY MANAGEMENT

Goh Sik Ngee
Chief Executive Officer

Mr Goh joined us as Chief Executive Offi cer on 17 November 2003. He brings with him 
approximately 31 years of experience working in the public and the private sectors and 
has held various senior management positions, including as the Director of Manpower 
at the Ministry of Defence, Chairman of SAFE Enterprises Pte Ltd. Before joining the 
Company Mr Goh was the Chief Executive Offi cer of MediaCorp Publishing Pte Ltd. Mr 
Goh holds a Master of Science Degree as well as a Bachelor of Engineering Degree 
(Honours) from the University of Singapore. Mr Goh was conferred the following 
National Day Awards by the President of Singapore: Public Administration Medal (PPA) 
(Silver) in 1986, for his contributions in the civil service; and Public Service Medal (PBM) 
in 2003, for his contributions in community service. 

Melissa Wan May Wah
Chief Financial Officer

Ms Wan was appointed as our Financial Controller in 1999 and on 1 July 2004 appointed 
as the Chief Financial Offi cer. Prior to this, she was Director of Financial Planning and 
Analysis at SingTel, which she joined in 1997. Before joining SingTel, she had 13 years 
of experience at The Westin Hotels (now known as Starwood Resorts and Hotels) and 
an international accounting fi rm. She had previously held the position of Assistant 
Financial Controller at the Westin Hotels. She also serves as a Board member on our 
associated company in India, Integrated Databases India Ltd. Ms Wan was also one of 
our company secretaries. Ms Wan holds a Bachelor of Accountancy degree from the 
National University of Singapore. She is a Fellow Certifi ed Public Accountant of the 
Institute of Certifi ed Public Accountants of Singapore and a Fellow of the Association of 
Chartered Certifi ed Accountants and a member of the Singapore Institute of Directors. 
Ms Wan has resigned and her last day of service was 31 July 2007.

Christopher Rogers
Vice President, Digital Media & Customer Management

Mr Rogers joined us on 3 July 2006. He brings with him 17 years of work experience, 
and held various management positions in a number of MNCs including Shell 
(Australia) and IBM (Australia and Singapore). In 2000, Mr Rogers joined SPH 
Mediaworks and his last-held appointment there was Senior Vice President, New 
Media in 2003. Prior to joining YPS, he was the Executive Director of WithinMedia 
Company Limited. Mr Rogers holds a Bachelor of Mathematics from the University 
of Waterloo, Ontario, Canada.
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Elsa Tan Hwee Khoon
Vice President, Sales & Marketing

Ms Tan joined us in August 2006, and comes with 17 years of work experience.  She started 
off in sales and marketing in 1989 at Newscom Pte Ltd (Publishing) for four years before 
making a move to business development in Singapore Network Services.  From 1994 to 1999, 
Ms Tan was with Panpac Media Limited, rising through various positions to become the 
Senior Executive Vice President & Group Executive Publisher.  She became an independent 
consultant for a year before joining Times Publishing Limited, where she held the position 
of Corporate General Manager for 6 years.  Prior to her joining YPS, she was also the Group 
Publisher & General Manager of Subsidiaries at Times. Ms Tan holds an MBA from the 
University of Hull.

Richard Sim Kain Wee 
Director, Sales

Mr. Sim has been with Yellow Pages since 1982 during which he had held senior 
positions in sales & sales management, business and market development, training, 
customer service and call centre management. He was appointed Director, Telesales, 
Call Centre & Customer Management on 1 July 2004 and Director, Sales on 1 September 
2005. Mr Sim holds an MBA from the Charles Sturt University, Australia.

Alan Siow Yuen Wui
Director, Information Technology & Investor Relations

Mr Siow joined us in October 2000 as the Director of e-Business and assumed 
his current position of Director, Information Technology in July 2004. He was also 
appointed Director, Investor Relations in November 2004. Prior to this, he accumulated 
nine years of experience working for the Infocomm Development Authority, the 
telecommunications regulatory authority in Singapore, and the National Computer 
Board, the information and technology policy and development board in Singapore. 
Mr Siow holds a Master of Science degree in Computer Sciences from the University 
of Wisconsin-Madison, USA and a Bachelor of Science degree in Computer Science 
(Honours) from the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, USA.

Tan Hui Peng
Director, Production

Ms Tan joined us in October 2000 as the Deputy Director of Marketing. She was 
appointed Deputy Director of Production in October 2001 and assumed her current 
position of Director, Production in February 2002. Prior to this, she spent 22 years 
working in the Line Plant Planning, Corporate Account Management, Sales Support and 
Human Resources departments of SingTel. Before joining SingTel, she accumulated 
four years’ experience working as a Research Officer with the Ministry of Defence. 
Ms Tan graduated from the University of Singapore with a Bachelor of Science degree 
with honours in Applied Chemistry.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

Yellow Pages Singapore is committed to providing timely, accurate and clear information to our investing public – our investors, 
analysts and fund managers. We strive to achieve the highest standards in corporate governance and transparency. 

Our senior management communicates regularly with our investing public and plays an active role in investor relations. During the 
year under review, our senior management participated in 46 meetings with fund managers and analysts. This is in addition to the 
frequent communication via corporate and fi nancial results announcements and news releases. These are made available on our 
website as well as the Singapore Exchange’s website. We invite the media and the investment community to our results presentations 
to provide updates on our fi nancial and operational performance, and our future plans. 

In addition, we hold Annual General Meetings and Extraordinary General Meetings to provide the investment community with the 
opportunity for direct discussion with our management through question-and-answer sessions. 

Our annual report aims to provide investors with a deeper understanding of our business trends, growth trajectory, and financial 
and operational performance. We ensure the timely, public dissemination of our annual report by posting it on our corporate 
website in tandem with its physical distribution. 

Looking ahead, we will continue to participate in active communication with our investing public, to ensure that we act consistently 
in their best interests. 

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

2006

FY2006 full-year results release 29 May

Issue of FY2006 annual report 14 July

3rd Annual General Meeting 31 July

FY2007 Q1 results release 14 August

Payment of fi nal dividend for FY2006 24 August

FY2007 Q2 and half-year results release 9 November

Payment of interim dividend for FY2007 14 December

2007

FY2007 Q3 results release 6 February

FY2007 full-year results release 24 May

ANALYST COVERAGE

Firm Analyst

J P Morgan Securities Singapore 
     Private Limited

James Tan

J P Morgan Cazenove Limited Adrian Foulger

OCBC Investment Research Pte Ltd Carmen Lee

SIAS Research Pte Ltd Koh Chin Lek

UBS Securities Pte Ltd Guarang Bhatia

Yellow Pages is followed by the analysts listed above. Please note that any 
opinions, estimates or forecasts regarding Yellow Pages’ performance made 
by these analysts are theirs alone and do not represent opinions, forecasts or 
predictions of Yellow Pages or its management. Yellow Pages does not by its 
reference above or distribution imply its endorsement of or concurrence with 
such information, conclusions or recommendations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance practices and activities in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2007 in relation to 
each of the principles of the Code of Corporate Governance 2005 (the “Code”) are set out in the following segments, and deviations 
from any guideline of the Code are explained.

BOARD MATTERS

Principle 1: The Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

The Board is entrusted with the overall management of the business affairs of the Company.  The Board sets the overall strategy 
and policies of the Group’s business direction, and ensures that sufficient resources are in place to meet its objectives. The Board 
sets the Group’s values and standards, compliance and accountability systems, and ensures that obligations to the Company’s 
shareholders are understood and met.  It reviews the Group’s financial performance and key operational initiatives and endorses 
the recommended framework of remuneration for the Board and key executives.  The Board also assumes responsibility for 
corporate governance. 

The Board meets at least four times a year.  In addition to scheduled Board meetings, ad hoc meetings are convened as and 
when circumstances require.  To facilitate the Board’s decision-making process, the Company’s Articles of Association provides 
for directors to participate in Board meetings by conference telephone and similar communications equipment, and for Board 
resolutions to be passed in writing, including by electronic means.  During the financial year ended 31 March 2007, the Board held 
8 Board meetings.  In addition, the directors also participated in an offsite workshop with management on the Group’s strategic 
plans and direction subsequent to year end.
 
In the discharge of its functions, the Board is supported by five Board committees that provide independent oversight of 
management, and which also serve to ensure that there are appropriate checks and balances. These key committees comprise 
the Audit Committee, the Nominations Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Capital Management Committee and the 
Business Development Committee.  

As at 31 March 2007, the Audit Committee, the Nominations Committee and the Remuneration Committee each comprised entirely 
of non-executive directors, and either all or a majority of their members were independent directors. Further details on their 
composition and activities are provided below.

The Capital Management Committee and the Business Development Committee were both set up on 20 March 2007.  The duties and 
responsibilities of the Capital Management Committee (whose members as at 31 March 2007 were Mr Foo Say Mui a.k.a. Bill Foo 
(Chairman), Mr Stanley Tan Poh Leng, Mr Goh Sik Ngee, Chief Executive Officer, and Ms Wan May Wah, Chief Financial Officer) 
are to propose new initiatives relating to any material capital structure issues, including financing and cash management among 
other items, to the Board for approval. The duties and responsibilities of the Business Development Committee (whose members 
as at 31 March 2007 were Dr Richard Charles Helfer (Chairman), Mr Stanley Tan Poh Leng, Mr Goh Sik Ngee, Chief Executive 
Officer, and Ms Elsa Tan, Vice President, Sales and Marketing) are to propose new initiatives relating to new directories, special 
publishing projects, productivity gains in production, sales force deployment and improvements in revenue and profitability to the 
Board for approval.

The number of Board and committee meetings held during the financial year ended 31 March 2007, and the attendance of members 
at such meetings, is set out on page 36 of the Annual Report.

The Board has put in place financial authorisation and approval limits for operating and capital budgets, procurement of goods and 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

services, and cheque signatory arrangements.  Approval sub-limits are also provided at management level to facilitate operational 
efficiency.  Within these guidelines, the Board approves transactions above certain financial thresholds.  The Board approves the 
Group’s quarterly and full-year financial results for release to the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) and 
transactions of a material nature requiring announcement under the listing rules of the SGX-ST.  Directors and senior executives 
are briefed on the Group’s operations and are routinely updated on developments and changes in the operating environment.

A formal letter setting out the director’s duties and responsibilities under the various regulations is issued to new directors 
upon their appointment.  The Company also conducts an in-house orientation programme, incorporating briefings from various 
business and corporate units for new Board members to familiarise them with the Group’s business activities and strategies.  
The company secretaries will also bring to the directors’ attention the Company’s governance practices, including policies on 
disclosure of interest in securities, prohibitions on dealing in the Company’s securities and restrictions on disclosure of price-
sensitive information.  On-going training is provided by way of presentations, circulated updates and agenda items, at Board and 
Board committee meetings on, among other things, the Company’s business, regulatory developments, corporate governance and 
investor relations matters.

Directors are all at liberty to request further explanations, briefings or informal discussions on any aspect of the Group’s operations 
or business issues from management.

Principle 2: Board Composition and Guidance

The Board of Directors as at 31 March 2007 comprised:
Mr Robert Michael Tomlin (Chairman, Independent & Non-executive Director)
Mr Foo Say Mui a.k.a Bill Foo (Independent & Non-executive Director)
Dr Richard Charles Helfer (Independent & Non-executive Director)
Mr Pang Yoke Min (Non-Independent & Non-executive Director)
Mr Stanley Tan Poh Leng (Non-Independent & Non-executive Director)
Mrs Helen Yeo Cheng Hoong (Independent & Non-executive Director) (resigned on 3 July 2007)
Mr Goh Sik Ngee (Chief Executive Officer & Non-Independent executive Director) (resigned on 25 May 2007)
Mr Peter Christopher Buxton (Independent & Non-executive Director) (resigned on 23 May 2007)

The Board has adopted the definition in the Code of what constitutes an independent director in its review of the independence 
of each director. 

Mr Robert Michael Tomlin, who is currently the Vice Chairman, Asia of UBS Investment Bank, is considered to be independent for 
the purposes of the Code, notwithstanding the fact that the Company had engaged UBS Investment Bank as its financial adviser 
for a period of 6 months from 14 March 2006, as no fees had been paid by the Company to UBS Investment Bank for any financial 
advisory services todate. 

Mr Peter Christopher Buxton was considered to be independent for the purposes of the Code, notwithstanding that he had received 
fees from the Company for independent consultancy services performed on an ad-hoc basis, as the aggregate amount of the fees 
paid to him (total S$74,450) was relatively insignificant. 

Mr Stanley Tan Poh Leng is not considered to be independent for the purposes of the Code by virtue of his being a substantial 
shareholder of the Company (he has a 25.36% interest in the Company (both direct and deemed through Global Advisory Group 
Pte. Ltd. as at 25 July 2007).

Mr Pang Yoke Min is not considered to be independent for the purposes of the Code by virtue of his being a shareholder of Global 
Advisory Group Pte. Ltd., a substantial shareholder with a 17.20% direct interest in the Company as at 25 July 2007.



29

YE
LL

O
W

 P
A

G
ES

 A
N

N
U

A
L 

RE
PO

RT
 2

00
7

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

During the financial year, two directors, namely, Dr Christopher Wilfried Heine and Mr Stephen King Chang-Min, resigned from the 
Board. The Board appointed three new non-executive directors to broaden the diversity of skills, namely, Mr Christopher Peter 
Buxton (who has since resigned), Mr Stanley Tan Poh Leng and Mr Pang Yoke Min. 

Subsequent to year end and as recently announced, four new directors have been appointed to the Board with effect from 6 August 
2007, namely, Professor Tan Cheng Han, Mr N Simon Meers, Mr Victor Ang and Mr Ng Tiong Gee, each of whom are considered to be 
independent for the purposes of the Code. It was also announced at the same time that Dr Richard Charles Helfer, who is due to retire 
by rotation as a director under the Company’s Articles of Association at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, has given notice to 
the Company that he does not wish to seek re-election at the Annual General Meeting. Mr Robert Michael Tomlin and Mr Foo Say Mui 
a.k.a. Bill Foo have also indicated that they will resign as directors after the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting. 

Accordingly, after the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting (and assuming that each of these directors are re-elected to 
office at the Annual General Meeting), it is anticipated that the Board will be reduced to six directors, namely, Mr Stanley Tan Poh 
Leng, Mr Pang Yoke Min, Professor Tan Cheng Han, Mr N Simon Meers, Mr Victor Ang and Mr Ng Tiong Gee. After the Annual 
General Meeting, the Board size may be reviewed to determine whether its size is appropriate, taking into account the nature and 
scope of the Group’s operations.  

The Board comprises persons who, as a group, provides the necessary core competencies, and includes experienced professionals 
with management, financial, accounting, asset management, publishing and print media backgrounds.  This enables management 
to benefit from their external and objective perspectives of issues that are brought before the Board. 

The non-executive directors also help to develop proposals on strategy, actively participate in discussions and decision-making 
at Board and Board committee levels, as well as in open and candid discussions with management.  The non-executive directors 
review the performance of management in meeting agreed goals and objectives. 

Information on the Board members is provided under the section “Board of Directors” in the Annual Report. 

Principle 3: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer have been separate since 2005, which is consistent with the principle 
of instituting an appropriate balance of power and authority.  There is a clear division of responsibilities insofar as the workings 
of the Board and the executive responsibilities of the Group’s businesses are concerned.  The division of responsibilities between 
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer has been established, set out in writing and agreed to by the Board. The Chairman, 
Mr Robert Michael Tomlin, is an independent non-executive director and is responsible for leading the Board and facilitating its 
effectiveness.  As Chairman, his duties include promoting high standards of corporate governance.  The Chief Executive Officer, 
Mr Goh Sik Ngee is responsible for the business direction and operational decisions of the Group.  The Chairman and the Chief 
Executive Officer are not related.

As part of his duties, the Chairman also ensures that Board meetings are held when necessary and sets the Board meeting 
agenda.  The Chairman reviews Board papers on significant issues before they are presented to the Board and ensures that 
Board members are provided with accurate, timely and clear information.  The Chairman monitors communications and relations 
between the Company and its shareholders, between the Board and Management, and within the Board.  

Principle 4: Board Membership

The Nominations Committee makes recommendations to the Board on all Board appointments. As at 31 March 2007, the 
Nominations Committee was chaired by Mr Robert Michael Tomlin (who is not, either directly or indirectly, associated with any 
substantial shareholder of the Company) and its other members were Dr Richard Charles Helfer and Mr Foo Say Mui a.k.a. Bill 
Foo, all of whom are non-executive and independent directors. The Nominations Committee is guided by its Board-approved 
written terms of reference, and serves to ensure a formal and transparent process for the nomination of directors to the Board.  
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The Nominations Committee may identify candidates for appointment as new directors through the business network of Board 
members or engage external independent professional advisors to assist in the search for suitable candidates.  The Nominations 
Committee will generally identify suitable candidates skilled in core competencies such as strategic planning, accounting or 
finance, business or management expertise, industry knowledge and customer-based experience.

If the Nominations Committee decides that the candidate is suitable, the Nominations Committee then recommends its choice 
to the Board of Directors. Meetings with such candidates may be arranged to facilitate open discussion. Upon appointment, 
arrangements will be made for the new director to attend various briefings with the management team.

The Nominations Committee is charged with determining annually whether or not a director is independent, bearing in mind 
the circumstances set forth in the Code and any other salient factors. The Nominations Committee is also charged with the 
responsibility of re-nomination having regard to the director’s contribution and performance (e.g., attendance, preparedness, 
participation and candour). The Nominations Committee determines if directors who hold multiple board representations give 
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group.  

At each Annual General Meeting of the Company, not less than one-third of the directors for the time being (being those who have 
been longest in office since their last appointment or re-election), and a director who, if he did not retire at that Annual General 
Meeting, would at the next Annual General Meeting have held office for more than three years, are required to retire from office 
by rotation.  A retiring director is eligible for re-election by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.  In addition, all newly-
appointed directors will hold office only until the next Annual General Meeting and will be eligible for re-election.  

Principle 5: Board Performance

The Nominations Committee acknowledges the importance of a formal assessment of Board performance and gives careful 
consideration to the establishment of objective performance criteria by which the Board’s performance may be evaluated.  The 
Nominations Committee has considered and assessed the performance and contributions of all of the Board members, taking into 
account their attendance, and participation at Board meetings and their time and efforts devoted to the business and affairs of 
the Company and the Group.

Principle 6: Access to Information

Directors have separate and independent access to management and the company secretaries. The Board is provided with relevant 
information and comprehensive analysis by management pertaining to matters to be brought before the Board for discussion and 
decision.  Management also provides regular reports on the Group’s financial performance and operations to the Board.  Board 
papers are sent to all directors in advance of the Board meeting. Senior managers who have prepared the papers, or who can 
provide additional insight on the matters to be discussed, are normally invited to present the paper or attend the Board meeting.  
The company secretaries attend Board meetings  and are responsible for, amongst other things, ensuring that Board procedures 
are observed and that applicable rules and regulations are complied with.  The appointment and the removal of the company 
secretaries is deliberated on by the Board as a whole.

Where necessary, the Company will, upon the request of directors (whether as a group or individually), provide them with 
independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense, to enable them to discharge their duties.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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REMUNERATION MATTERS

Principle 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies 
Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration
Principle 9: Disclosure of Remuneration

Remuneration Committee

As at 31 March 2007, the Remuneration Committee was chaired by Dr Richard Charles Helfer and its other members were Mr Robert 
Michael Tomlin and Mr Stanley Tan Poh Leng. Dr Richard Charles Helfer and Mr Robert Michael Tomlin are non-executive and 
independent directors. Mr Stanley Tan Poh Leng is a non-executive and non-independent director.  The Remuneration Committee 
has access to expert professional advice on executive compensation matters whenever there is a need to consult externally. The 
Remuneration Committee is guided by its Board-approved written terms of reference.

The Remuneration Committee recommends to the Board a framework of remuneration for the Board and key executives, and 
determines the specific remuneration package for the Chief Executive Officer. The Remuneration Committee’s recommendations 
are submitted for endorsement by the entire Board.  The Remuneration Committee covers all aspects of remuneration, including 
but not limited to directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options and benefits in kind.

The Remuneration Committee also administers the Yellow Pages Share Option Scheme.

Remuneration Policy

The Company adopts an overall remuneration policy for staff comprising a fixed component in the form of a base salary. 
The variable component is in the form of a bonus that is linked to the Company’s and the individual’s performance.

In determining the remuneration for the Chief Executive Officer and key executives, the Remuneration Committee takes into
account the following principles:

(a) the remuneration should motivate the executives to achieve the Company’s performance targets;
(b) the performance-related elements of remuneration should form a significant part of their total remuneration package;
(c) the interests of the executives should be aligned with shareholders; and
(d) the remuneration should be directly linked to the performance of the Group and individual performance. 

The non-executive directors’ fees are set in accordance with a remuneration framework comprising basic retainer fees for each 
non-executive director, additional fees for the appointments to the various committees established by the Board and attendance 
fees for attendance at Board and committee meetings.  Factors such as effort and time spent, and responsibilities of the directors, 
are taken into account. Directors’ fees are subject to the approval of shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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The breakdown of the remuneration of directors and key executives (who are not also directors) for the financial year ended 31 
March 2007 is as follows:

Remuneration Band
and Name of Director

Fixed
Component (1)

Variable
Component (2) Benefits Director’s

Fees
Share
option

expenses
Total

Compensation
% % % % % %

$500,000 to $750,000
Goh Sik Ngee (3)                                          69.4 14.1 9.0 - 7.5 100.0

Below $250,000
Robert Michael Tomlin              - - - 100.0 - 100.0
Foo Say Mui a.k.a. Bill Foo - - - 100.0 - 100.0
Richard Charles Helfer                  - - - 100.0 - 100.0
Pang Yoke Min (4) - - - 100.0 - 100.0
Stanley Tan Poh Leng (4) - - - 100.0 - 100.0
Helen Yeo Cheng Hoong (5) - - - 100.0 - 100.0
Peter Christopher Buxton (4) (6)     - - - 100.0 - 100.0
Christopher Wilfried Heine (7)       - - - 100.0 - 100.0
Stephen King Chang-Min (7)             - - - 100.0 - 100.0

Remuneration Band and
Name of Key Executive

Below $250,000
Christopher Paul Rogers (8)               99.6                  - 0.4                   - 100.0
Sim Kain Wee                              80.6                14.9                   4.5                   - - 100.0
Siow Yuen Wui Alan                    86.4                  9.5                   4.1                   - - 100.0
Tan Hui Peng                               77.0                14.5                  1.2                   - 7.3 100.0
Tan Hwee Khoon Elsa (9)                    99.6                    - 0.4                   - - 100.0
Wan May Wah (10) 75.7                 16.2                   0.7                  - 100.0
Choong Woon Wui Winnie (11)               100.0                   - - - - 100.0
Teo Poh Ling Pauline (12)                       94.1                   5.7                   0.2                  - - 100.0
Goh Swee Gim (13)                       65.9                 27.8                   6.3                  - - 100.0
Carol Jean Johnson (14)                      52.8                 36.0                 11.2                  - 100.0
Lim Cher Huat Francis (15)           91.5                 - 8.5                  - - 100.0

(1) Fixed Component refers to base salary earned and annual wage supplement, if applicable, for the year ended 31 March 2007.
(2) Variable Component refers to variable bonus for the year ended 31 March 2007.
(3) Resigned from the Board on 25 May 2007
(4) Appointed to the Board on 6 February 2007 
(5) Resigned from the Board on 3 July 2007
(6) Resigned from the Board on 23 May 2007
(7) Resigned from the Board on 5 February 2007
(8) Joined the Company on 3 July 2006
(9) Joined the Company on 7 August 2006
(10) Resigned from the Company on 31 July 2007
(11) Joined the Company on 8 January 2007 and resigned on 23 February 2007
(12) Resigned from the Company on 24 January 2007
(13) Resigned from the Company on 1 September 2006 
(14) Resigned from the Company on 29 August 2006 
(15) Resigned from the Company on 18 June 2006

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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None of the employees of the Group whose annual remuneration exceeds $150,000 are immediate family members of the Chief 
Executive Officer or any other director of the Company.

The Company has adopted the Yellow Pages Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”). The Scheme provides an opportunity for 
eligible employees of the Company and its subsidiaries to participate in the equity of the Company. However, as the resolution to 
approve the grant of options under the Scheme was withdrawn from last year’s Annual General Meeting, no new options were 
granted under the Scheme during the financial year ended 31 March 2007.

Some details of the Scheme are set out in the Directors’ Report to the audited accounts for the financial year ended 31 March 2007.  
The following is additional information on the Scheme:

(a) The maximum size of the Scheme is 10% of the issued shares in the capital of the Company.
(b) All options granted under the Scheme as at 31 March 2007 were granted at an exercise price of $1.66, being the offering price 
 for the initial public offering of shares of the Company in Singapore.
(c) All options granted under the Scheme as at 31 March 2007 may only be exercised during the period commencing on the 
 day after the first anniversary of the date of grant and expiring on the tenth anniversary of the date of grant.  The Committee 
 has adopted the following vesting schedule in respect of such options:

Vesting Period       Proportion of Total Options that are exercisable                   

The day after the first anniversary of the date of grant   25 per cent. of grant 
30 June 2006        50 per cent. of grant 
30 June 2007         75 per cent. of grant 
30 June 2008           100 per cent. of grant

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT 

Principle 10: Accountability 
Principle 11: Audit Committee 
Principle 12: Internal Controls

Accountability

The Board has overall responsibility to shareholders for ensuring that the Group is well managed and guided by its strategic 
objectives.  In presenting the Group’s quarterly and annual financial statements to shareholders, the Board aims to provide a 
balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects.

Management provides all members of the Board with accounts and reports on the Group’s financial performance and position on a 
quarterly basis.  Although management does not provide reports on a  monthly basis,  all directors nevertheless have unrestricted 
access to the Group’s records and information through requests for further explanations, briefings and informal discussions on the 
Group’s operations or business issues from management.

Audit Committee

As at 31 March 2007, the Audit Committee members were Mr Foo Say Mui a.k.a. Bill Foo (Chairman), Mr Robert Michael Tomlin, Dr 
Richard Charles Helfer and Mr Pang Yoke Min. Mr Foo Say Mui a.k.a. Bill Foo, Mr  Robert Michael Tomlin and Dr Richard Charles 
Helfer are independent non-executive directors. Mr Pang Yoke Min is a non-executive and non-independent director. At least two 
members of the Audit Committee have accounting or financial management expertise and related financial experience.  The Audit 
Committee’s scope of authority is formalised in its approved terms of reference, which include the statutory functions of an audit 
committee as prescribed under the Companies Act, Chapter 50, the Code and Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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The Audit Committee has authority to perform the functions and to investigate any matter specified within its terms of reference, 
and has full access to and co-operation of management, and full discretion to invite any executive director or executive officer to 
attend its meetings. Reasonable resources have been made available to the Audit Committee to enable it to discharge its duties.

The activities of the Audit Committee include the following:

• To review the significant financial reporting issues and judgements so as to ensure the integrity of the financial statements 
 of the Company and the Group and any formal announcements relating to the Company’s and the Group’s financial performance.
• To review the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the Company and consolidated financial statements of 
 the Group for the quarterly and full-year results prior to their submission to the Board;
• To make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditors, and 
 approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors. 
• To review with external auditors their (i) annual audit plan, findings, and recommendations to management as well as 
 management’s response and (ii) audit report;
• To review the assistance given by management to the external auditors;
• To review interested person transactions and conflict of interest situations that may arise within the Group;  
• To review the adequacy of the Group’s internal financial controls, operational and compliance controls, and risk management 
 policies and systems (collectively referred to as “internal controls”); and
• To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal auditors, including the adequacy of internal audit resources 
 and their evaluation of the overall risk profile and internal controls systems as well as the scope and results of the internal 
 audit procedures.

In the event the Audit Committee becomes aware of a suspected fraud or irregularity which has or is likely to have a material 
impact on the financial results of the Group, it will commission an investigation into the matter and review and report the findings 
of the investigation to the Board of Directors.

The Audit Committee has undertaken a review of all non-audit services provided by the external auditors during the financial 
year and reviewed the independence and objectivity of the external auditors, and after having been satisfied with its standard of 
audit, independence and objectivity recommends to the Board the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditors for the 
financial year ended 31 March 2008.  The independence of the external auditors is reviewed annually.

The Audit Committee will meet with the external auditors, without the presence of management, at least once annually.

Management has put in place, and the Audit Committee has endorsed, arrangements by which employees of the Group may, in 
confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters. The objective for such 
arrangements is to ensure independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow-up action, and to encourage the 
reporting of such matters, in good faith, with the confidence that employees making such reports will be treated fairly and to the 
extent possible, protected from reprisal. 

Internal Controls

The Group continually reviews and improves its business and operational activities to identify areas of significant business risk 
as well as take appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks. These include the implementation of safety, security 
and internal control measures and taking up appropriate insurance coverage.  The Group’s financial risk management programme 
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects of the unpredictability of financial markets on the Group’s financial performance.  The 
financial risk management policies are outlined in Note 31 of the Notes to the Financial Statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Key internal controls of the Group include:

- Establishment of policies and approval limits for key financial and operational matters, and the rules relating to the delegation 
 of authorities;
- Documentation of key processes and procedures;
- Segregation of incompatible functions which give rise to a risk of errors or irregularities not being promptly detected;
- Safeguarding of assets;
- Maintenance of proper accounting records;
- Ensuring reliability of financial information;
- Ensuring compliance with appropriate legislation and regulations; and
- Having qualified and experienced persons take charge of important functions.

The Audit Committee ensures that a review of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls is conducted at least annually.

The Audit Committee has met with the internal auditors without management subsequent to year end.

The Board is not aware of any material inadequacy in the overall internal controls and processes currently in place.

Principle 13: Internal Audit

The Board recognises the need and is responsible for maintaining a system of internal control processes to safeguard shareholders’ 
investments and the Group’s business and assets. The effectiveness of the internal financial control systems and procedures is 
monitored by the Audit Committee.

The Company has established its internal audit function and outsourced it to a reputable international accounting firm, who is 
rated as generally conforming to the Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by The Institute of Internal 
Auditors.  The internal audit function reports to the Chairman of the Audit Committee and is assisted by management in its detailed 
work.  The Audit Committee ensures, at least annually, the adequacy of the internal audit function and reviews and approves the 
internal audit plan.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Principle 14: Communication with Shareholders
Principle 15: Encouraging Greater Shareholder Participation

The Company communicates information to shareholders and the investing community through announcements that are released 
to the SGX-ST via SGXNET.  Such announcements include the quarterly and full-year results, material transactions, and other 
developments relating to the Group requiring disclosure under the corporate disclosure policy of the SGX-ST.

All shareholders of the Company are sent a copy of the Annual Report and notice of the Annual General Meeting. The notice of 
Annual General Meeting, which sets out all items of business to be transacted at the Annual General Meeting, is also advertised 
in the newspapers.  The Company also maintains a website at www.yellowpages.com.sg where the public can access information 
on the Group.

The Group believes in encouraging shareholder participation at general meetings.  A shareholder who is entitled to attend and 
vote may either vote in person or in absentia through the appointment of one or more proxies (who can either be named individuals 
nominated by the shareholder to attend the meeting or the Chairman of the meeting as the shareholder may select).  The Company’s 
Articles of Association have not yet been amended to allow for other absentia voting methods such as by mail, electronic mail, fax 
and/or other methods. Such amendments may be proposed if the necessary security and other measures that can protect against 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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errors, fraud and other irregularities that could arise from such absentia voting methods become available on a cost-effective 
basis, and the Board views that this is of sufficient interest to the Company’s shareholders. 

The Company’s main forum for dialogue with shareholders takes place at its Annual General Meeting, where the members of the 
Board, senior management and the external auditors are in attendance.  At the Annual General Meeting, shareholders will be 
given the opportunity to air their views and ask questions regarding the Company. 

At each Annual General Meeting, the Board presents the progress and performance of the Group and encourages shareholders 
to participate in the question and answer session.  The external auditors are present to address shareholders’ queries on the 
conduct of audit and the preparation and content of the auditors’ report.

The Chairman of the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Committees, or members of the respectives Committees standing in 
for them, are present at each Annual General Meeting, and other general meetings held by the Company, if any, to address 
shareholders’ queries.  Senior management are also present at general meetings to respond, if necessary, to operational questions 
from shareholders that may be raised. 

DEALINGS IN SECURITIES

The Company has adopted the principles and best practices on dealings in securities as contained in the Best Practices Guide 
issued by the SGX-ST. Directors and staff are to refrain from dealing in the securities of the Company during the periods commencing 
two weeks before and up to the date of announcement of the Company’s quarterly results and one month before and up to the date 
of announcement of the Company’s full-year results, or while in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information.

Board and Committee Meetings held during the Financial Year ended 31 March 2007

Board Nominations Committee Remuneration Committee Audit Committee 

Board Members Held Attendance Held Attendance Held Attendance Held Attendance

Robert Michael Tomlin (1) 8 8 - - 1 1 3 3
Foo Say Mui a.k.a Bill Foo (2) 8 8 - - - - 5 5
Richard Charles Helfer (3) 8 7 1 1 1 1 5 5
Pang Yoke Min (4) 1 1 - - - - 1 1
Stanley Tan Poh Leng (5) 1 1 - - 1 1 - -
Helen Yeo Cheng Hoong (6) 8 8 - - - - 2 2
Goh Sik Ngee (7) 8 8 - - - - - -
Peter Christopher Buxton (8) 1 1 - - - - - -
Christopher Wilfried Heine (9) 7 5 1 - - - - -
Stephen King Chang-Min (9) 7 2 1 1 - - - -
 

(1) Appointed on 6 February 2007 to the Nominations Committee and the Remuneration Committee and on 19 September 2006 to the Audit Committee.
(2) Appointed on 6 February 2007 to the Nominations Committee.
(3) Appointed on 6 February 2007 to the Remuneration Committee.
(4) Appointed on 6 February 2007 to the Board and the Audit Committee.  
(5) Appointed on 6 February 2007 to the Board and the Remuneration Committee.
(6) Appointed on 6 February 2007 to the Nominations Committee. Stepped down on 6 February 2007 from the Remuneration Committee and on 19 September 2006 
 from the Audit Committee.  Resigned from the Board on 3 July 2007.
(7) Resigned from the Board on 25 May 2007.
(8) Appointed to the Board on 6 February 2007. Resigned from the Board on 23 May 2007.
(9) Resigned from the Board on 5 February 2007.

The Capital Management Committee and the Business Development Committee, which were both set up on 20 March 2007, did not 
hold any meetings during the financial year ended 31 March 2007.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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The directors present their report to the members together with the audited financial statements of the Group for the financial year 
ended 31 March 2007 and the balance sheet of the Company as at 31 March 2007.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are : 

Robert Michael Tomlin    
Foo Say Mui a.k.a. Bill Foo      
Richard Charles Helfer
Stanley Tan Poh Leng (Appointed on 6 February 2007)
Pang Yoke Min (Appointed on 6 February 2007) 

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose object was to 
enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company 
or any other body corporate, other than as disclosed under “Yellow Pages Share Option Scheme” on pages 39 to 41.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES OR DEBENTURES

a) According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, none of the directors holding office at the end of the financial year had 
any interest in the shares or debentures of the Company and related corporations, except as follows :

Holdings registered in name Holdings in which a director is
of director or nominee deemed to have an interest

At At
1.4.2006 1.4.2006

or date of or date of
At appointment, At appointment,

31.3.2007 if later 31.3.2007 if later

Company
(Ordinary shares)

Robert Michael Tomlin 260,000 260,000 - -
Goh Sik Ngee # 351,142 351,142 - -
Foo Say Mui a.k.a. Bill Foo 30,000   30,000 - -
Helen Yeo Cheng Hoong ## 70,000   70,000 - 30,000
Richard Charles Helfer 15,000   15,000 - -
Stanley Tan Poh Leng 12,910,000 12,910,000 27,182,000 * 27,182,000 *
Pang Yoke Min 3,220,000 2,047,000 - -

#   Mr Goh Sik Ngee resigned as a Director with effect from 25 May 2007.
##    Mrs Helen Yeo Cheng Hoong resigned as a Director with effect from the close of the business day on 3 July 2007.

*   By virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50, Stanley Tan Poh Leng is deemed to be interested in the 27,182,000 shares in the 
Company held by Global Advisory Group Pte Ltd, a substantial shareholder of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES OR DEBENTURES (continued)

b) According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, the interests of the directors holding office at the end of the financial 
year in the options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company granted pursuant to the Yellow Pages Share Option 
Scheme are set out below and in the paragraphs on “Yellow Pages Share Option Scheme” on pages 39 to 41.

Number of unissued ordinary shares
under option held by director

At At
31.3.2007 1.4.2006

Options Exchange**
Goh Sik Ngee #   697,436 697,436

**   See paragraphs on “Yellow Pages Share Option Scheme” on pages 39 to 41.
#      Mr Goh Sik Ngee resigned as a Director with effect from 25 May 2007.

c) The directors’ interests in the ordinary shares and convertible securities of the Company as at 21 April 2007 were the same 
as those as at 31 March 2007.  

DIRECTORS’ CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a 
contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which he is a member or with a company 
in which he has a substantial financial interest, except as disclosed in the accompanying financial statements and in this report.

YELLOW PAGES SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Yellow Pages Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) for employees (including executive directors) and non-executive directors 
of the Group was adopted by the shareholders of the Company on 29 October 2004.  The Scheme shall remain in force for a 
maximum of 10 years unless extended.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for administering the Scheme.  As at the date of this report, the Committee members 
are Dr Richard Charles Helfer (Chairman), Mr Robert Michael Tomlin and Mr Stanley Tan Poh Leng.

Under the Scheme, options to subscribe for the ordinary shares of the Company are granted to employees of the Company or 
its subsidiaries (including executive directors) with at least one year of service prior to the date of grant and to non-executive 
directors of the Group at the absolute discretion of the Remuneration Committee. There are no provisions under the Scheme 
permitting participation of directors and employees of a parent company and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group).  The exercise 
price of the granted options can be equal to, higher than or set at a discount to the average of the last dealt prices of the 
Company’s ordinary shares on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) for the five consecutive trading 
days immediately preceding the date of grant (“Market Price”).  The discount granted shall not exceed 20% of the Market Price.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007
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YELLOW PAGES SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
 
The vesting of granted options is conditional on the Group achieving its targets of profitability and subject to individual performance 
of the participant.  The options are exercisable, upon vesting, for varying contractual option terms of up to ten years after the date 
of grant.  The options may be exercised in full or in part in respect of 1,000 shares or a multiple thereof, on the payment of the 
exercise price.  The persons to whom the options have been issued have no right to participate by virtue of the options in any share 
issue of any other company.  The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash.

No option has been granted under the Scheme except for the options granted (“Options Exchange”) in place of the outstanding 
and unexercised share options granted by Asia Directory S.à r.l in respect of the shares in Asia Directory S.à r.l held by some 
members of the management, which were terminated on the date of the Company’s listing on the Main Board of the SGX-ST on 9 
December 2004 (“Listing Date”).  Asia Directory S.à r.l was the Company’s immediate and ultimate holding corporation prior to the 
Listing Date.  

Options to subscribe for a total of 1,264,103 ordinary shares of the Company with an exercise price of $1.66 per ordinary share 
(the offering price at the Company’s Initial Public Offering) were granted pursuant to the Options Exchange on 9 December 2004 of 
which 697,436 options were granted to a previous executive director of the Company, as follows : 

Name of director 

Options granted for 
financial year ended 

31.3.2007

Aggregate options 
granted since 

commencement of 
Scheme to 31.3.2007

Aggregate options 
exercised since 

commencement of 
Scheme to 31.3.2007

Aggregate options 
outstanding as at 

31.3.2007

Goh Sik Ngee #   - 697,436 - 697,436

# Mr Goh Sik Ngee resigned as a Director with effect from 25 May 2007.

These options are exercisable for a period of 10 years after the date of grant, subject to the following vesting schedule :

Vesting period
Proportion of total share 

options that are exercisable

The day after the first anniversary of the date of grant   25% of grant
30 June 2006   50% of grant 
30 June 2007   75% of grant 
30 June 2008 100% of grant

No options have been granted to controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST) of the Company or their 
associates (as defined in the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST).

No key management or employee has received 5% or more of the total number of options available under the Scheme during the 
financial year.  No director or employee of the Company and its subsidiaries has received 5% or more of the total number of options 
available to all directors and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries under the Scheme during the financial year.

No options have been granted at a discount during the financial year.

During the financial year, no shares of the Company have been allotted and issued by virtue of the exercise of options to take up 
unissued shares of the Company or any subsidiary.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007
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YELLOW PAGES SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Share options outstanding

The options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company outstanding at the end of the financial year are as follows :

Options relating to Yellow Pages 
Share Option Scheme 

Number outstanding 
at 31.3.2007 Exercise price

Exercise
period

Options Exchange 1,264,103 $1.66 10.12.2005 – 8.12.2014

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The members of the Audit Committee at the date of this report are as follows:

Mr Foo Say Mui a.k.a. Bill Foo  (Chairman)
Dr Richard Charles Helfer 
Mr Robert Michael Tomlin (appointed on 19 September 2006)
Mr Pang Yoke Min   (appointed on 6 February 2007)

Mrs Helen Yeo Cheng Hoong, who served on the Audit Committee during the financial year, has stepped down as a member of the 
Audit Committee on 19 September 2006.

All members of the Audit Committee are non-executive directors.  Except Mr Pang Yoke Min, all members of the Audit Committee 
are independent.  At least two members of the Audit Committee have accounting or financial management expertise and related 
financial experience.

The Audit Committee carried out its functions in accordance with, inter alia, Section 201B(5) of the  Singapore Companies Act, 
Chapter 50. In performing those functions, the Audit Committee met during the financial year to review the scope of the internal 
audit functions and the scope of work of the statutory auditors, and the results arising therefrom, including their evaluation of the 
system of internal controls. The Audit Committee also reviewed the assistance given by the Company’s officers to the auditors.  
The balance sheets of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2007, and the consolidated income statement, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and consolidated cash flow statement of the Group for the year then ended were reviewed by the 
Audit Committee prior to their submission to the Board of Directors for adoption.

In addition, the Audit Committee has also reviewed the interested person transactions and the conflict of interest situations that 
may arise within the Group.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board of Directors that the auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, be nominated for 
re-appointment as auditors at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.
 
The Audit Committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and has recommended to the Board 
of Directors that the external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, be nominated for re-appointment as auditors at the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007
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AUDITORS
 
The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the directors

FOO SAY MUI a.k.a. BILL FOO 
Director

19 July 2007

ROBERT MICHAEL TOMLIN
Director

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007
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In the opinion of the directors, 

(a) the balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group as set out on pages 45 to 89 are 
drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at 31 March 2007, and of 
the results of the business, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the financial year then ended; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they fall due.

On behalf of the directors

FOO SAY MUI a.k.a. BILL FOO 
Director

19 July 2007

ROBERT MICHAEL TOMLIN
Director

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007
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We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Yellow Pages (Singapore) Limited set out on pages 45 to 89, which 
comprise the balance sheets of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2007, and the consolidated income statement, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated cash flow statement of the Group for the year then ended, and a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes 
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; 
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion,

(a) the balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group are properly drawn up in accordance 
with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2007, and the results, changes in 
equity and cash flows of the Group for the financial year ended on that date; and

 
(b) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company have been properly kept in accordance with 

the provisions of the Act.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore, 19 July 2007

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
to the Members of Yellow Pages (Singapore) Limited
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Notes 2007 2006
$ $

Revenue 4 59,019,866 58,062,340

Other gains (net) 5 2,215,853 1,616,488

Printing and material costs (10,244,303) (10,317,453)

Employee benefi ts 6 (17,354,576) (15,718,913)

Finance expenses 7 (5,636,365) (5,634,865)

Distribution expenses (1,739,520) (1,491,333)

Other expenses 8 (8,968,396) (7,012,491)

Depreciation 23 (1,567,441) (1,450,405)

Amortisation 24(b) & (d) (661,414) (1,069,048)

Total expenses (46,172,015) (42,694,508)

Share of results of associated companies 22 464,329 814,085

Profi t before income tax 15,528,033 17,798,405

Income tax expense 9(a) (2,917,001) (3,280,751)

Net profi t 12,611,032 14,517,654

Earnings per share 10
 - Basic 7.98 cents 9.18 cents
 - Diluted 7.98 cents 9.18 cents

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Group Company
Notes 2007 2006 2007 2006

$ $ $ $

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 11 31,710,462 30,883,642 31,389,300 30,358,178
Trade and other receivables 12 17,805,136 16,945,668 16,925,351 16,270,701
Inventories 13 8,351,419 6,812,414 7,637,374 6,057,294
Derivative fi nancial instruments 14 66,770 19,728 66,770 19,728
Other current assets 15 670,371 625,610 633,728 561,861
Due from subsidiaries 16(a) - - 817,387 1,132,145
Due from an associated company 17(a) 5,623 24,340 3,746 4,517

58,609,781 55,311,402 57,473,656 54,404,424

Non-current assets
Other receivables 18 7,334 4,276 7,334 3,762
Other non-current assets 20 172,750 172,779 147,733 147,733
Due from a subsidiary 16(b) - - 936,067 1,077,793
Investment in a subsidiary 21 - - 357,938 357,938
Investments in associated companies 22 2,341,132 2,382,127 1,954,809 1,954,809
Property, plant and equipment 23 18,515,885 19,275,733 16,825,562 17,492,383
Intangible assets 24 174,476,949 174,374,280 173,713,998 173,603,150
Deferred income tax assets 9(c) 371,219 889,432 - 429,488

195,885,269 197,098,627 193,943,441 195,067,056

Total assets 254,495,050 252,410,029 251,417,097 249,471,480

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 25 6,259,377 5,364,266 5,863,336 5,064,732
Advance receipts and billings 5,437,159 4,735,979 4,973,151 4,210,559
Due to an associated company 17(b) 46,561 67,183 46,561 67,183
Derivative fi nancial instruments 14 628,024 51,400 628,024 51,400
Current income tax liabilities 9(b) 2,937,420 3,124,433 2,927,601 3,127,233

15,308,541 13,343,261 14,438,673 12,521,107

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 26 129,572,830 129,401,962 129,572,830 129,401,962
Derivative fi nancial instruments 14 2,318,827 1,311,884 2,318,827 1,311,884
Deferred income tax liabilities 9(c) 336,405 - 336,405 -

132,228,062 130,713,846 132,228,062 130,713,846

Total liabilities 147,536,603 144,057,107 146,666,735 143,234,953

NET ASSETS 106,958,447 108,352,922 104,750,362 106,236,527

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital 27 96,688,469 96,688,469 96,688,469 96,688,469
Share option reserve 295,049 225,281 295,049 225,281
Cash fl ow hedge reserve (2,867,737) (1,508,165) (2,867,737) (1,508,165)
Currency translation reserve (147,493) (76,990) - -
Retained earnings 28 12,990,159 13,024,327 10,634,581 10,830,942

106,958,447 108,352,922 104,750,362 106,236,527

BALANCE SHEETS
as at 31 March 2007

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes
Share 

capital

Share
option 

reserve

Cash flow
 hedge
reserve

Currency 
translation 

reserve 
Retained 
earnings Total

$ $ $ $ $ $

2007
Beginning of financial year 96,688,469  225,281 (1,508,165) (76,990) 13,024,327 108,352,922

Cash flow hedges -           - (1,359,572) -    - (1,359,572)
Currency translation differences    - -      - (70,503)      - (70,503)
Net loss recognised directly 
  in equity     - - (1,359,572) (70,503) - (1,430,075)

Net profit for the financial year     - -      - - 12,611,032 12,611,032

Total (loss)/gain recognised
  for the financial year - - (1,359,572) (70,503) 12,611,032 11,180,957

Employee share option scheme:
- Value of employee services 6 - 69,768 - - - 69,768

Dividend paid 29    - -      -     - (12,645,200) (12,645,200)

End of financial year 96,688,469 295,049 (2,867,737) (147,493) 12,990,159 106,958,447

2006
Beginning of financial year   96,688,469  62,848 (1,565,801) 1,367 23,480,943 118,667,826

Cash flow hedges     - -        57,636 - -   57,636
Currency translation differences      - -      - (78,357) -   (78,357)
Net gain/(loss) recognised
  directly in equity     - - 57,636 (78,357)    -       (20,721)

Net profit for the financial year     - -      - - 14,517,654 14,517,654

Total gain/(loss) recognised
  for the financial year     - - 57,636 (78,357) 14,517,654 14,496,933

Employee share option scheme:
- Value of employee services 6    - 162,433      -     -     - 162,433
Dividend paid 29    - -      -     -  (24,974,270)         (24,974,270)

End of financial year   96,688,469  225,281 (1,508,165) (76,990) 13,024,327 108,352,922

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007
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Notes 2007 2006

$ $

Cash fl ows from operating activities
Net profi t 12,611,032 14,517,654
Adjustments for :
  Income tax 2,917,001 3,280,751
  Share of results of associated companies (464,329) (814,085)
  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,567,441 1,450,405
  Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2,386 (14,160)
  Amortisation of intangible assets 661,414 1,069,048
  Interest income (1,037,576) (706,030)
  Interest expense 5,624,368 5,624,368
  Share option expense 69,768 162,433
  Unrealised translation losses/(gains) 151,953 (7,064)
Operating cash fl ows before working capital changes 22,103,458 24,563,320

Change in operating assets and liabilities
  Inventories (1,539,005) 168,274
  Receivables (903,558) 4,405,986
  Advance receipts and billings 701,180 80,368
  Payables 1,071,488 (186,451)
Cash generated from operations 21,433,563 29,031,497

Income tax paid (2,256,586) (4,107,576)
Net cash provided by operating activities 19,176,977 24,923,921

Cash fl ows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (818,121) (778,644)
Purchase of intangible assets (764,033) (341,800)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 4,546 14,210
Interest received 1,005,522 702,382
Dividends received from an associated company 434,399 186,675
Net cash used in investing activities (137,687) (217,177)

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities
Interest paid (5,453,500) (5,453,500)
Dividends paid (12,645,200) (24,974,270)
Net cash used in fi nancing activities (18,098,700) (30,427,770)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 940,590 (5,721,026)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the fi nancial year 11 30,883,642 36,622,170
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (113,770) (17,502)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the fi nancial year 11 31,710,462 30,883,642

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
as at 31 March 2007
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying fi nancial statements. 

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Yellow Pages (Singapore) Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated and domiciled in Singapore.  The address of its registered 
office is 1, Lorong 2 Toa Payoh, Yellow Pages Building, Singapore 319637.

The Company is listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”).

The principal activities of the Company and the Group consist of the publication of Singapore telephone and other directories, 
selling of advertising space in Singapore and certain overseas classified directories, and the provision of electronic based 
information and call centre related services.  

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).  The 
financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies 
below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to exercise its judgement in the 
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.  It also requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and 
assumptions.  The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates 
are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in Note 3.

Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2006

On 1 April 2006, the Group adopted the new or revised FRS and Interpretations to FRS (INT FRS) that are mandatory for 
application from that date. Changes to the Group’s accounting policies have been made as required, in accordance with the 
relevant transitional provisions in the respective FRS and INT FRS.

The following are the FRS and INT FRS that are relevant to the Group :

FRS 21 (Amendment) The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
FRS 32 (Amendment)  Financial Instruments : Disclosures and Presentation
FRS 39 (Amendment)  Financial Instruments : Recognition and Measurement
INT FRS 104  Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease

The adoption of the above FRS or INT FRS did not result in any substantial changes to the Group’s accounting policies. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b) Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for services rendered, net of goods and services 
tax, rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group.  When revenue is recognised before customers are 
invoiced, unbilled receivables are recognised as part of trade receivables.

(1) Sale of advertising space

Revenue from the sale of advertising space in printed directories is recognised in the month of distribution to users as 
there are no further customer obligations to be fulfilled by the Group after distribution. All direct and incremental costs, 
including printing and publishing costs incurred in the production of printed directories are deferred and recognised as 
expenses in the income statement in the month of distribution.

Revenue and costs from the sale of advertising space on the internet directory and call centre related services are 
recognised rateably over the contracted advertising period.  

(2) Rendering of services

Revenue earned from the provision of other advertising related services is recognised when the service is rendered.

(3) Sale of directories

Revenue from the sale of directories is recognised when the directories are delivered, the customer has accepted the 
directories and collectibility of the related receivables is reasonably assured.

(4) Rental income

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
  
(5) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis, using the effective interest method.  When a receivable 
is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cashflow 
discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues amortising the discount as interest 
income on the recoverable amount.

(6) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Group accounting

(1) Subsidiaries

 Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has power to govern the financial and operating policies, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights.  The existence and effect of potential voting 
rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another 
entity.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group.  The cost of 
an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued or liabilities incurred or 
assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.  Identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are initially measured at their fair values on 
the date of acquisition, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest.  Please refer to Note 2(e) for the accounting 
policy on goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.  They are de-consolidated 
from the date on which control ceases.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on 
transactions between group companies are eliminated.  Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.  Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed 
where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Please refer to Note 2(f) for the accounting policy on investments in subsidiaries.

(2)   Associated companies

Associated companies are entities over which the Group has significant influence, but not control, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of between and including 20% and 50% of the voting rights.  Investments in associated 
companies are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting.  Investments 
in associated companies in the consolidated balance sheet include goodwill (net of accumulated impairment loss) 
identified on acquisition, where applicable.  Please refer to Note 2(e) for the Group’s accounting policy on goodwill.

Investments in associated companies are initially recognised at cost. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair 
value of the assets given, equity instruments issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus 
costs directly attributable to the acquisition.

In applying the equity method of accounting, the Group’s share of its associated companies’ post-acquisition profits or 
losses is recognised in the income statement and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised 
in equity directly. These post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. 
When the Group’s share of losses in an associated company equals or exceeds its interest in the associated company, 
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has obligations or 
has made payments on behalf of the associated company.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Group accounting (continued)

(2)   Associated companies (continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associated companies are eliminated to the extent of the 
Group’s interest in the associated companies.  Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associated companies have been changed 
where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Please refer to Note 2(f) for the accounting policy on investments in associated companies.

(d) Property, plant and equipment

(1)   Measurement

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses (Note 2(g)).

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase price and any costs that are directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management.   The projected cost of dismantlement, removal or restoration is also included as part of the 
cost of property, plant and equipment if the obligation for the dismantlement, removal or restoration is incurred as a 
consequence of acquiring or using the asset.

(2)   Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to allocate their depreciable amounts over their estimated useful 
lives as follows :

Useful lives

Freehold and leasehold property 15 - 30 years 
Offi ce equipment and furniture 5 years
Computer equipment 3 - 5 years
Fittings and fi xtures 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

Capital work-in-progress, representing cost of property, plant and equipment which has not been commissioned for use, is not 
depreciated.

The residual values and useful lives of property, plant and equipment are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each balance 
sheet date.  The effects of any revision of the residual values and useful lives are included in the income statement for 
the financial year in which the changes arise.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(3)   Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised is added to the 
carrying amount of the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  Other subsequent expenditure is recognised as an 
expense in the income statement during the financial year in which it is incurred.

(4)   Disposal

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing net disposal proceeds 
with carrying amounts and are included in the income statement.

(e) Intangible assets

(1) Goodwill 

 Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition of subsidiaries and associated 
companies over the fair value of the Group’s share of their identifiable net assets and contingent liabilities at the date 
of acquisition.

 Goodwill arising on business acquisition represents the excess of the consideration paid on business acquisition over 
the fair value of the Company’s share of the acquired business’s identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill recognised separately as intangible assets is tested at least annually for impairment and carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses (Note 2(g)).

Gains and losses on the disposal of subsidiaries and associated companies include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to 
the entity sold.

(2) Intellectual property assets

 The fair value of the intellectual property assets acquired through business acquisition is separately identified and 
capitalised as intangible assets.

Intellectual property assets that have definite useful lives are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses (Note 2(g)).  These costs are amortised to the income statement using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives of 20 years. 

 Intellectual property assets that have indefinite useful lives are tested at least annually for impairment and carried at 
cost less accumulated impairment losses (Note 2(g)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e) Intangible assets (continued)

(3) Computer software

 Where computer software is not an integral part of the related hardware, it is treated as an intangible asset.  Computer 
software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as part of the hardware and classified as property, 
plant and equipment (Note 2(d)).

Acquired computer software licences are initially capitalised at cost which includes the purchase price (net of any 
discounts and rebates) and other directly attributed cost of preparing the asset for its intended use. Direct expenditure, 
which enhances or extends the performance of computer software beyond its specifications and which can be reliably 
measured, is recognised as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of the software. Costs associated with 
maintaining the computer software are recognised as an expense as incurred.

Capitalised computer software licences are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses (Note 2(g)). These costs are amortised to the income statement using the straight-line 
method over their estimated useful lives of three to five years.

The amortisation period and amortisation method of intangible assets other than goodwill are reviewed at least at each 
balance sheet date. The effects of any revision of the amortisation period or amortisation method are included in the 
income statement for the financial year in which the changes arise.

(f) Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies

Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies are stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses in the 
Company’s balance sheet.  

 
 On disposal of investments in subsidiaries and associated companies, the difference between net disposal proceeds and the 

carrying amounts of the investments are taken to the income statement.

(g) Impairment of assets

(1) Goodwill and intellectual property assets with indefinite useful lives

 Goodwill and intellectual property assets with indefinite useful lives are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment, as well as when there is any indication that the goodwill or intellectual property assets may 
be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating-units 
(“CGU”) expected to benefit from synergies arising from the business combination.

 An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of a CGU, including the goodwill, exceeds the recoverable 
amount of the CGU.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Impairment of assets (continued)

(1) Goodwill and intellectual property assets with indefinite useful lives (continued)

Recoverable amount of the CGU is the higher of the CGU’s fair value less cost to sell and value in use.

The total impairment loss of a CGU is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the CGU and 
then to the other assets of the CGU pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the CGU.
 
An impairment loss on goodwill is recognised in the income statement and is not reversed in a subsequent period.

(2) Property, plant and equipment
 Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies
 Intellectual property assets with definite useful lives

 Property, plant and equipment, investments in subsidiaries and associated companies and intellectual property assets 
with definite useful lives are reviewed for impairment whenever there is any indication that these assets may be 
impaired.  If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and 
value in use) of the asset is estimated to determine the amount of impairment loss.  

 For the purpose of impairment testing of these assets, recoverable amount is determined on an individual asset basis 
unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other assets.  If this is the 
case, recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the asset belongs. 

 If the recoverable amount of the asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of 
the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.  The impairment loss is recognised in the income statement.

 An impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the assets’ recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised.  The carrying amount 
of an asset other than goodwill is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment 
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.  A reversal of impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is 
recognised in the income statement.

(h) Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less allowance for impairment.  An allowance for impairment of trade and other receivables is 
established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the 
original terms of the receivables.  The amount of the allowance is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.  The amount of the 
allowance is recognised in the income statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
 
(i) Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.  Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised 
cost.  Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement 
over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings which are due to be settled within 12 months after the balance sheet date are presented as current borrowings even 
though the original term was for a period longer than 12 months and an agreement to refi nance, or to reschedule payments, on a long-
term basis is completed after the balance sheet date and before the fi nancial statement are authorised for issue.  Other borrowings 
due to be settled more than 12 months after the balance sheet date are presented as non-current borrowings in the balance sheet.

(j) Trade and other payables

 Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, and subsequently carried at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest method.

(k) Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

A derivative financial instrument is initially recognised at its fair value on the date the contract is entered into and is 
subsequently carried at its fair value.  The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is 
designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged.  The Group designates its derivatives as hedges 
of highly probable forecast transactions (cash fl ow hedges).

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, 
as well as its risk management objective.  The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an 
ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in 
cash flows of hedged items.

The full fair value of a hedging derivative is presented as a non-current asset or liability if the remaining hedge item is more 
than 12 months, and as a current asset or liability, if the remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months.

(1) Cash flow hedge

 The Group has entered into forward foreign exchange contracts that are cash flow hedges for the Group’s exposure 
to foreign currency risks on its anticipated purchases.   These contracts entitle the Group to receive fixed amount of 
foreign currency at each settlement date and pay the contractual amount in local currency at fixed exchange rates, 
thus minimising any potential adverse effects of the foreign currency markets on the Group’s financial performance.  

The changes in fair values relating to the effective portion of these forward foreign exchange contracts are recognised 
in the hedging reserve within equity and included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of the asset upon 
recognition of the hedged item.  The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the 
income statement. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (continued)
 
(2) Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Fair value changes for derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are included in the income 
statement in the financial year when the changes arise.

(l) Fair value estimation

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts and the embedded foreign exchange derivative are determined using 
forward exchange market rates at the balance sheet date.

The carrying amount of current receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values.  

(m) Operating leases

(1) When a group company is the lessee :

Leases of property, plant and equipment where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained 
by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received 
from the lessor) are taken to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to the 
lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the financial year in which termination takes place.

(2) When a group company is the lessor :

Assets leased out under operating leases are included in property, plant and equipment.

Rental income from operating leases (net of any incentives given to lessees) is recognised in the income statement on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(n) Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost, determined on the weighted average cost basis, and net realisable value.  Cost 
includes transport and handling costs.  Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, 
less applicable variable selling expenses.

Raw materials consist of roll and paper sheets for printing of directories.

Directories in progress comprise all direct and incremental costs incurred in the production of printed directories. For proper 
matching of costs with revenue, such costs are deferred and recognised in the income statement together with printing and 
material costs in the month of distribution to users.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o) Income taxes
 

Current income tax liabilities (and assets) for current and prior periods are recognised at the amounts expected to be paid 
to (or recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted 
by the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax assets/liabilities are recognised for all deductible taxable temporary differences arising between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements except when the deferred income 
tax assets/liabilities arise from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred income tax liability is recognised on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associated 
companies, except where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at:

(i) the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income 
tax liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance 
sheet date; and

(ii) the tax consequence that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the balance sheet date, to 
recover or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred income tax are recognised as income or expenses in the income statement for the period, except to the 
extent that the tax arises from a business combination or a transaction which is recognised directly in equity.

 (p) Provisions

 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely 
 than not that an outfl ow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated.  Provisions 
 are not recognised for future operating losses. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(q) Employee benefits

(1) Defi ned contribution plans 

 Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed contributions into 
separate entities such as the Central Provident Fund on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has 
no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The Group’s contributions are recognised as 
employee compensation expense when they are due.

(2) Employee leave entitlements

 Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the 
estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

(3) Share-based compensation

 The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan. The fair value of the employee services received 
in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense in the income statement with a corresponding 
increase in the share option reserve over the vesting period. The total amount to be recognised over the vesting period is 
determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted on the date of the grant. Non-market vesting conditions 
are included in the estimation of the number of shares under options that are expected to become exercisable on the 
vesting date. At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of shares under options that 
are expected to become exercisable on the vesting date and recognises the impact of the revision of the estimates 
in the income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve over the remaining vesting 
period.

When the options are exercised, the proceeds received (net of any directly attributable transaction costs) and the 
related balance previously recognised in the share option reserve are credited to share capital, when new ordinary 
shares are issued.

(4) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date, or whenever an 
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits.  The Group recognises termination benefits 
when it is demonstrably committed to either: terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed 
formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage 
voluntary redundancy.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r) Currency translation

(1) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”).  The financial statements are presented in 
Singapore Dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. 

(2) Transactions and balances

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into the functional 
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions.  Currency translation gains and losses 
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the balance sheet date are recognised in the income statement.

(3) Translation of Group entities’ financial statements

The results and financial position of group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) 
that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency 
as follows :

(i) Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet; 

(ii) Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable 
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and 
expenses are translated using the exchange rate at the dates of the transactions); and

(iii) All resulting exchange differences are taken to the currency translation reserve within equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operations on or after 1 April 2005 are treated 
as assets and liabilities of the foreign operations and translated at closing rate at the date of the balance sheet.  For 
acquisitions prior to 1 April 2005, the exchange rates at the date of acquisition were used.

(s) Segment reporting

 A business segment is a distinguishable component of the Group engaged in providing products or services that are subject 
to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments. A geographical segment is a distinguishable 
component of the Group engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic environment that is subject 
to risks and returns that are different from those of segments operating in other economic environments.

As the Group operates principally in one business segment (directory advertising) and one geographical segment (Singapore), 
segment information is not presented.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits with financial institutions.

(u) Share capital

 Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new equity instruments are taken to equity as a deduction, net of 
tax, from the proceeds.

(v) Dividends

Interim dividends are recorded in the financial year in which they are declared payable.  Final dividends are recorded in the 
financial year in which the dividends are approved by the shareholders.

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, ASSUMPTIONS AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 
seldom equal the related actual results.  The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed in Note 24(c).

4. REVENUE
Group

2007 2006
$ $

Revenue from sale of advertising space 58,540,175 57,556,081
Revenue from the provision of advertising
  related services 181,350 234,014
Revenue from sale of directories 99,729 28,584
Revenue from call centre related services 198,612 243,661

59,019,866 58,062,340
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

5. OTHER GAINS – NET
Group

2007 2006
$ $

Rental income 1,387,316 1,115,692
Interest income 1,037,576 706,030

Fair value loss on forward contracts not qualifying as hedges (397,041) (246,774)

Currency exchange gain/(loss) 72,148 (2,199)
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (2,386) 14,160
Others 118,240 29,579

2,215,853 1,616,488

6. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Group

2007 2006
$ $

Salaries and wages 15,331,487 13,904,142
Employer’s contribution to defined contribution plans including Central Provident Fund 1,561,804 1,399,862
Other benefits 391,517 252,476
Share options expense (Note 27) 69,768 162,433

17,354,576 15,718,913

7. FINANCE EXPENSES
Group

2007 2006
$ $

Interest expense on Bonds (Note 26(a)) 5,624,368 5,624,368
Bank facilities charges 11,997 10,497

5,636,365 5,634,865
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

8. OTHER EXPENSES

Included in other expenses are the following :
Group

2007 2006
$ $

Property related and maintenance expenses 2,089,275 1,942,593
Advertising expenses 1,192,554 974,443
Temporary and outsource services 1,160,410 536,258
Travelling expenses 969,276 997,158
Professional fees 799,731 719,796
Telecommunication expenses 433,851 452,650
Allowance for/(write-back) of impairment of receivables 354,614 (138,705)
Stationery and office supplies 332,407 324,230
Insurance 190,819 206,663

9. INCOME TAXES

(a) Income tax expense

Group
2007 2006

$ $

Income tax expense attributable to profit is made up of :
Current income tax 
- Singapore 2,764,596 3,039,596
- Foreign 22,899 20,938

2,787,495 3,060,534
Deferred income tax 122,674 260,297

2,910,169 3,320,831
Over provision in prior years
- current income tax (722,502) (40,080)
- deferred income tax 729,334 -

2,917,001 3,280,751
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

9. INCOME TAXES (continued)

(a) Income tax expense (continued)

The income tax expense on profit differs from the amount that would arise using the Singapore standard rate of income tax 
is as explained below :

Group
2007 2006

$ $

Profit before tax 15,528,033 17,798,405

Tax calculated at a tax rate of 18% (2006: 20%) 2,795,046 3,559,681
Effect of changes in tax rates 42,948 -
Effect of different tax rates in other countries 6,915 -
Singapore statutory stepped income exemption (27,450) (10,500)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 221,311 339,472
Income not subject to tax (63,421) (367,024)
Recognition of previously unrecognised :
- tax losses 35,731 -
- capital allowances 1,447 -
- provisions 15,667 -
Utilisation of previously unrecognised :
- tax losses (14,172) (18,589)
- capital allowances (15,177) (19,392)
- provisions (5,097) -
Tax calculated on share of results of associated companies (83,579) (162,817)
Tax charge 2,910,169 3,320,831

(b) Movements in current income tax liabilities

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

$ $ $ $

Beginning of financial year 3,124,433 4,210,714 3,127,233 4,169,633
Income tax paid (2,256,586) (4,107,576) (2,234,894) (4,081,996)
Tax expense on profit for the current financial year 2,787,495 3,060,534 2,764,596 3,039,596
Over provision in prior years (722,502) (40,080) (729,334) -
Income tax refund 4,544 - - -
Currency translation differences 36 841 - -
End of financial year 2,937,420 3,124,433 2,927,601 3,127,233
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

9. INCOME TAXES (continued)

(c) Deferred income taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current income tax 
assets against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority.  The 
following amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the balance sheet.

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

$ $ $ $

Deferred income tax assets (371,219) (889,432) - (429,488)
Deferred income tax liabilities 336,405 - 336,405 -

(34,814) (889,432) 336,405 (429,488)

Deferred income taxes are calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using a principal tax rate of 
18% (2006: 20%).  The movements in the deferred income tax account are as follows :

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

$ $ $ $

Beginning of financial year (889,432) (1,142,856) (429,488) (616,806)
Effect of change in tax rate 42,948 - 42,948 -
Currency translation differences 2,610 (6,873) - -
Tax charged to income statement 809,060 260,297 722,945 187,318
End of financial year (34,814) (889,432) 336,405 (429,488)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

9. INCOME TAXES (continued)

(c) Deferred income taxes (continued)

The movements in the deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction) are 
as follows :

Group

Deferred income tax liabilities
Accelerated tax 

depreciation
$

2007
Beginning of financial year 369,860
Effect of change in tax rate (36,496)
Currency translation differences 869
Charged to income statement 48,767
End of financial year 383,000

2006
Beginning of financial year 361,861
Currency translation differences 1,521
Charged to income statement 6,478
End of financial year 369,860

Deferred income tax assets
Provisions Tax losses Total

$ $  $

2007
Beginning of financial year (994,957) (264,335) (1,259,292)
Effect of change in tax rate 79,444 - 79,444
Currency translation differences (2,121) 3,862 1,741
Charged to income statement 733,821 26,472 760,293
End of financial year (183,813) (234,001) (417,814)

2006
Beginning of financial year (1,216,323) (288,394) (1,504,717)
Currency translation differences (7,182) (1,212) (8,394)
Charged to income statement 228,548 25,271 253,819
End of financial year (994,957) (264,335) (1,259,292)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

9. INCOME TAXES (continued)

(c) Deferred income taxes (continued)

Company

Deferred income tax liabilities
Accelerated tax 

depreciation
$

2007
Beginning of financial year 364,955
Effect of change in tax rate (36,496)
Charged to income statement 71,906
End of financial year 400,365

2006
Beginning of financial year 366,122
Credited to income statement (1,167)
End of financial year 364,955

Deferred income tax assets
Provisions

$

2007
Beginning of financial year (794,443)
Effect of change in tax rate 79,444
Charged to income statement 651,039
End of financial year (63,960)

2006
Beginning of financial year (982,928)
Charged to income statement 188,485
End of financial year (794,443)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

Group
2007 2006

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company ($) 12,611,032 14,517,654

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for basic earnings per share 158,065,000 158,065,000

Basic earnings per share 7.98 cents     9.18 cents

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, profit attributable to equity holders of the Company and the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.  
The Company has one category of dilutive potential ordinary shares: share options.  

For the share options, the weighted average number of shares in issue is adjusted as if all share options that are dilutive 
were exercised. The number of shares that could have been issued upon the exercise of all dilutive share options less 
the number of shares that could have been issued at fair value (determined as the Company’s average share price for the 
financial year) for the same total proceeds is added to the denominator as the number of shares issued for no consideration, 
with no adjustment to earnings (numerator).

Group
2007 2006

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company ($) 12,611,032 14,517,654

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for basic earnings per share 158,065,000 158,065,000
Adjustments for
 – share options - -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share 158,065,000 158,065,000

Diluted earnings per share 7.98 cents 9.18 cents

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006
$ $ $ $

Cash at bank and on hand 4,337,905 4,048,911 4,016,743 3,523,447
Short-term bank deposits 27,372,557 26,834,731 27,372,557 26,834,731

31,710,462 30,883,642 31,389,300 30,358,178

At the balance sheet date, the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximated their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued) 

Cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the following currencies :

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

$ $ $ $

Singapore Dollar 28,974,862 28,203,201 28,974,862 28,203,201
United States Dollar 2,414,438 2,154,977 2,414,438 2,154,977
Malaysia Ringgit 321,162 525,464 - -

31,710,462 30,883,642 31,389,300 30,358,178

At the balance sheet date, all short-term bank deposits were denominated in Singapore Dollars and had an average maturity 
of 38 days (2006: 64 days) from the end of the financial year with a weighted average effective interest rate of 3.02% (2006: 
3.34%) per annum.

The exposure of cash and cash equivalents to interest rate risks is disclosed in Note 31(ii).

12. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES - CURRENT
Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006
$ $ $ $

Trade receivables - non-related parties :
-  billed receivables 16,590,850 18,100,005 15,182,002 16,531,357
-  unbilled receivables 10,479,651 9,600,573 10,479,651 9,600,573

27,070,501 27,700,578 25,661,653 26,131,930
Less : Allowance for impairment of receivables (9,415,585) (10,850,731) (8,885,324) (9,953,980)
Trade receivables - net 17,654,916 16,849,847 16,776,329 16,177,950

Staff loans (Note 19) 11,635 12,267 11,224 11,033
Other receivables 138,585 83,554 137,798 81,718

17,805,136 16,945,668 16,925,351 16,270,701
 
Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited due to the Group’s large number of customers 
covering a large spectrum of industries and having a variety of end markets in which they sell.  Therefore, the directors 
believe that no additional credit risk beyond the amount of allowance for impairment made is inherent in the Group’s and 
Company’s trade receivables.

At the balance sheet date, the carrying amounts of current trade and other receivables approximated their fair value.  The 
exposure to interest rate risks of current trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 31(ii), together with non-current 
trade and other receivables.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

12. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES - CURRENT (continued)
 

Trade and other receivables were denominated in the following currencies :
Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006
$ $ $ $

Singapore Dollar 16,925,351 16,270,701 16,925,351 16,270,701
Malaysia Ringgit 879,785 674,967 - -

17,805,136 16,945,668 16,925,351 16,270,701

13. INVENTORIES
Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006
$ $ $ $

Published directories 416,088 514,507 180,098 225,343
Directories in progress 4,120,888 4,315,949 3,642,833 3,849,993
Raw materials 3,814,443 1,981,958 3,814,443 1,981,958

8,351,419 6,812,414 7,637,374 6,057,294

14. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Group and Company

Contract / 
Notional
Amount

Fair values
Assets Liabilities

$ $ $

2007
Cash flow hedges  - Currency forwards 25,248,893 - (2,946,851)
Embedded derivative 4,669,348 66,770 -

66,770 (2,946,851)

Less : Current portion (66,770) 628,024

Non-current portion - (2,318,827)

2006
Cash flow hedges  - Currency forwards 30,568,763 - (1,363,284)
Embedded derivative 4,933,393 19,728 -

19,728 (1,363,284)

Less : Current portion (19,728) 51,400

Non-current portion - (1,311,884)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

15. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Group Company

2007 2006 2007   2006
$ $ $   $

Deposits 90,556 103,347 76,556 79,056
Prepayments 579,815 522,263 557,172 482,805

670,371 625,610 633,728 561,861

 The carrying amounts of current deposits approximated their fair values and were principally denominated in Singapore Dollars.

16. DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Due from subsidiaries - current
Company

2007 2006
$ $

Trade 175,152 598,948
Non-trade 501,736 494,273
Less : Allowance for impairment of receivables - (97,639)

676,888 995,582
Loan receivable (Note 16(b)) 140,499 136,563

817,387 1,132,145

The non-trade amounts due from subsidiaries were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. 

The carrying amounts of amounts due from subsidiaries approximated their fair values.

Current amounts due from subsidiaries were denominated in the following currencies :
Company

2007 2006
$ $

Singapore Dollar 676,888 995,582
Malaysia Ringgit 140,499 136,563

817,387 1,132,145
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

16. DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b) Due from a subsidiary – non-current 
Company

2007 2006
$ $

Loan receivable (Note 32(b)) 1,076,566 1,214,356
Less : Due within next 12 months (Note 16(a)) (140,499) (136,563)

936,067 1,077,793

The fair value of the non-current portion of loan receivable from a subsidiary was approximately $748,000 (2006: $835,000) 
using the discounted cash flows derived from a discount rate based upon the Group’s weighted average cost of capital (Note 
24(c)). 

The effective interest rate on the loan extended to the subsidiary is 3.0% (2006: 3.0%) per annum.

The loan receivable from a subsidiary was denominated in Malaysia Ringgit.

17. DUE FROM/TO ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

(a) Due from an associated company
Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006
$ $ $ $

Trade 4,289 22,894 3,520 3,933
Non-trade 1,334 1,446 226 584

5,623 24,340 3,746 4,517

The amounts due from an associated company were denominated in the following currencies :

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

$ $ $ $

Singapore Dollar 3,746 4,517 3,746 4,517
Malaysia Ringgit 1,877 19,823 - -

5,623 24,340 3,746 4,517
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

17. DUE FROM/TO ASSOCIATED COMPANIES (continued)
 
(b) Due to an associated company

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

$ $ $ $

Non-trade 46,561 67,183 46,561 67,183

The non-trade amounts due from/to the associated companies were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. 

The carrying amounts of amounts due from/to associated companies approximated their fair value.

The amounts due to associated companies were principally denominated in Singapore Dollars.

18. OTHER RECEIVABLES – NON-CURRENT 
Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006
$ $ $ $

Staff loans (Note 19) 7,334 4,276 7,334 3,762
 
The fair values of the Group’s and Company’s non-current staff loans were approximately $7,000 (2006: $4,000) and $7,000 
(2006: $4,000) respectively based on discounted cash flows using a discount rate based upon the Group’s weighted average 
cost of capital (Note 24(c)). 

Non-current staff loans were denominated in the following currencies :
Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006
$ $ $ $

Singapore Dollar 7,334 3,762 7,334 3,762
Malaysia Ringgit - 514 - -

7,334 4,276 7,334 3,762

The exposure of non-current receivables to interest rate risks is disclosed in Note 31(ii).
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19. STAFF LOANS
Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006
$ $ $ $

Not later than one year (Note 12) 11,635 12,267 11,224 11,033
Between two and fi ve years (Note 18) 7,334 4,276 7,334 3,762

18,969 16,543 18,558 14,795

 Staff loans were made under an approved staff loan scheme and were interest-free, unsecured and repayable within two years. 

20. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

 Other non-current assets comprise club memberships stated at cost.  

21. INVESTMENT IN A SUBSIDIARY
Company

2007 2006
$ $

Equity investments at cost 357,938 357,938

Details of the subsidiary are included in Note 35. 

22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006
$ $ $ $

Equity investments at cost 1,954,809 1,954,809

Beginning of financial year 2,382,127 1,835,803
Currency translation differences (70,925) (81,086)
Share of profits 464,329 814,085
Dividend received, net of tax (434,399) (186,675)
End of financial year 2,341,132 2,382,127

The summarised financial information of associated 
companies are as follows:

  - Assets 10,575,154 9,618,198
  - Liabilities 6,172,631 6,582,968
  - Revenue 6,916,099 7,466,396
  - Net profit 946,633 1,658,881

 Details of the associated companies are included in Note 35.
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23. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
Office

Freehold Leasehold equipment Computer Fittings Motor
property property and furniture equipment and fixtures vehicle Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Group
2007

Cost 
Beginning of financial year 2,547,641 18,073,600 417,279 2,192,528 449,865 67,858 23,748,771
Currency translation differences (2,899) - (136) (10) (70) (73) (3,188)
Additions - - 9,023 785,636 23,462 - 818,121
Disposals - - (22,948) (37,692) - - (60,640)
End of financial year 2,544,742 18,073,600 403,218 2,940,462 473,257 67,785 24,503,064

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year   849,213 1,905,056 225,748 1,238,349 247,013 7,659 4,473,038
Currency translation differences 207 - (106) 229 (90) 168 408
Depreciation charge 83,652 692,937 67,449 635,125 74,897 13,381 1,567,441
Disposals - - (17,844) (35,864) - - (53,708)
End of financial year 933,072 2,597,993 275,247 1,837,839 321,820 21,208 5,987,179

Net book value
End of financial year 1,611,670 15,475,607 127,971 1,102,623 151,437 46,577 18,515,885

Office
Freehold Leasehold equipment Computer Fittings Motor
property property and furniture equipment and fixtures vehicle CIP* Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Group
2006

Cost 
Beginning of financial year 2,516,912 18,073,600 358,627 1,530,460 402,455 38,038 77,500 22,997,592
Currency translation
  differences      30,729 - 1,174 1,847 975 (52) - 34,673
Additions               - - 63,608 599,447 46,435 69,154 - 778,644
Disposals               - - (6,130) (16,726) - (39,282) - (62,138)
Transfer               - - - 77,500 - - (77,500) -
End of financial year 2,547,641 18,073,600 417,279 2,192,528 449,865 67,858 - 23,748,771

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year   755,074 1,212,119 174,509 713,111 178,284 38,038 - 3,071,135
Currency translation
  differences       8,852 - 1,027 1,531 975 1,201 - 13,586
Depreciation charge     85,287 692,937 56,342 540,383 67,754 7,702 - 1,450,405
Disposals              - - (6,130) (16,676) - (39,282) - (62,088)
End of financial year   849,213 1,905,056 225,748 1,238,349 247,013 7,659 - 4,473,038

Net book value
End of financial year 1,698,428 16,168,544 191,531 954,179 202,852 60,199 - 19,275,733

*  Represents assets where construction is in progress.



76
YE

LL
O

W
 P

A
G

ES
 A

N
N

U
A

L 
R E

P O
R T

 2
00

7
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

23. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Office

Leasehold equipment Computer Fittings Motor
property and furniture equipment and fixtures vehicle Total

$ $ $ $ $ $

Company
2007

Cost
Beginning of financial year 18,073,600 322,156 2,041,336 369,096 3,863 20,810,051
Additions - 8,382 772,144 11,492 - 792,018
Disposals - (18,037) (20,489) - - (38,526)
End of financial year 18,073,600 312,501 2,792,991 380,588 3,863 21,563,543

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year 1,905,056 139,982 1,106,193 166,244 193 3,317,668
Depreciation charge 692,937 64,704 618,960 74,532 773 1,451,906
Disposals - (12,933) (18,660) - - (31,593)
End of financial year 2,597,993 191,753 1,706,493 240,776 966 4,737,981

Net book value
End of financial year 15,475,607 120,748 1,086,498 139,812 2,897 16,825,562

Office
Leasehold equipment Computer Fittings Motor
property and furniture equipment and fixtures vehicle CIP* Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Company
2006

Cost
Beginning of financial year 18,073,600 259,307 1,372,524 322,661 - 77,500 20,105,592
Additions - 62,849 591,612 46,435 3,863 - 704,759
Disposals - - (300) - - - (300)
Transfer - - 77,500 - - (77,500) -
End of financial year 18,073,600 322,156 2,041,336 369,096 3,863 - 20,810,051

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year 1,212,119 87,011 582,006 98,490 - - 1,979,626
Depreciation charge 692,937 52,971 524,437 67,754 193 - 1,338,292
Disposals - - (250) - - - (250)
End of financial year 1,905,056 139,982 1,106,193 166,244 193 - 3,317,668

Net book value
End of financial year 16,168,544 182,174 935,143 202,852 3,670 - 17,492,383

* Represents assets where construction is in progress.
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24. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Group Company

Composition : 2007 2006 2007 2006
$ $ $ $

Goodwill arising on consolidation 752,781 752,781 - -
Goodwill arising on business acquisition 59,031,738 59,031,738 59,031,738 59,031,738
Intellectual property assets 113,721,778 113,953,150 113,721,778 113,953,150
Computer software licence and development costs 970,652 636,611 960,482 618,262

174,476,949 174,374,280 173,713,998 173,603,150

(a) Goodwill

For the applicable accounting policies, please refer to Notes 2(e) and 2(g) of the financial statements.

(b) Intellectual property assets
Group and Company
2007 2006

$ $

Beginning of fi nancial year 113,953,150 114,523,637
Amortisation (231,372) (570,487)
End of fi nancial year 113,721,778 113,953,150

Trademarks with indefi nite useful lives 109,962,000 109,962,000

Trademarks with defi nite useful lives 5,518,000 5,518,000
Accumulated amortisation (1,758,222) (1,526,850)

3,759,778 3,991,150

Net book value 113,721,778 113,953,150

The intellectual property assets acquired upon business acquisition on 30 June 2003 were valued on the basis of fair market 
value of the brand names and related trademarks by an independent valuer.  As the leading publisher of telephone directories 
as well as the largest provider of classified directory advertising and associated products and services in Singapore, the 
Group has a number of intellectual property assets, which are mainly registered trademarks.  

One of the trademarks has been assessed as having indefinite useful life with reference to all relevant factors, as the 
directors believe there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which this trademark is expected to generate net cash 
inflows for the Group.  This conclusion will be subject to annual reviews to determine whether events and circumstances 
continue to support the indefinite useful life basis for this asset.
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24. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
 
(c) Impairment test of goodwill and trademarks

The Group operates as one cash-generating unit.  For the purposes of impairment testing, the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit, including goodwill and trademarks, has been determined based on value in use calculations.  These 
calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets prepared by management covering a five-year period with 
the following key assumptions :

(1) Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) compounded annual growth rate of 7.6% (2006: 
13.1%).

(2) Discount rate of 6.6% (2006: 6.6%) per annum.

 The EBITDA growth rate is projected based on the expected results of product enhancements and market potential.  The 
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is determined based on the weighted average cost of capital of the 
business.

 Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the Gordon Growth model at zero growth rate.

 The management believe that any reasonable possible change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is 
based would not cause the carrying amount of goodwill and indefinite life trademarks to exceed its recoverable amount.

(d) Computer software licence and development costs
Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006
$ $ $ $

Beginning of fi nancial year 636,611 793,499 618,262 786,973
Currency translation differences 50 (127) - -
Additions 764,033 341,800 764,033 321,551
Amortisation (430,042) (498,561) (421,813) (490,262)
End of fi nancial year 970,652 636,611 960,482 618,262

Cost  2,400,198 1,669,483 2,348,202 1,617,428
Accumulated amortisation (1,429,546) (1,032,872) (1,387,720) (999,166)
Net book value 970,652 636,611 960,482 618,262
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25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006
$ $ $ $

Trade payables - third parties 2,535,380 1,691,551 2,309,550 1,541,660
Other creditors and accruals 3,694,870 3,643,588 3,524,659 3,493,945
Accrued interest payable - bonds 29,127 29,127 29,127 29,127

6,259,377 5,364,266 5,863,336 5,064,732

The carrying amounts of current trade and other payables approximated their fair value at the balance sheet date.

Trade and other payables were denominated in the following currencies :

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

$ $ $ $

Singapore Dollar 5,758,663 4,994,404 5,758,663 4,994,404
United States Dollar 102,663 70,328 102,663 70,328
Malaysia Ringgit 396,041 299,534 - -
Euro Dollar 2,010 - 2,010 -

6,259,377 5,364,266 5,863,336 5,064,732

26. BORROWINGS
Note Group and Company

2007 2006
$ $

Non-current borrowings
Bonds (denominated in Singapore Dollars) (a) 129,572,830 129,401,962

(a) Bonds

The unsecured fixed rate bonds of principal amount of $130,000,000, which were issued and listed on the SGX-ST on 30 
September 2004, will mature on 30 September 2009.  Interest is payable semi-annually while the principal amount is payable 
in full in one payment upon maturity.  The bonds were issued to re-finance the bank term loan which was obtained to finance 
the business acquisition on 30 June 2003.

 
(b) Interest rate risks

The weighted average effective interest rate of borrowings at the balance sheet date was 4.195% (2006: 4.195%) per 
annum.

The exposure of borrowings to interest rate risk is disclosed in Note 31(ii).
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26. BORROWINGS (continued)
 
(c) Carrying amounts and fair values

 The carrying amounts and fair values of non-current borrowings were as follows :
Carrying amounts Fair values

2007 2006 2007 2006
$ $ $ $

Group and Company

Bonds 129,572,830 129,401,962 129,978,000 127,140,000

 The fair value of the bonds was based on independent market quotation from reputable financial institutions.  

27. SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 March 2007, the Company’s share capital was $96,688,469 comprising 158,065,000 ordinary shares.

No of shares Amount

Authorised 
share 

capital

Issued
share 

capital

Authorised 
share 

capital
Share 

capital
Share 

premium

Total share 
capital 

and share 
premium

‘000 ‘000 $ $ $ $

2006
Beginning of financial year 200,000 158,065 10,000,000 7,903,250 88,785,219 96,688,469
Effect of Companies (Amendment) 
  Act 2005 (See Note (a) below) (200,000) - (10,000,000) 88,785,219 (88,785,219) -
End of financial year - 158,065 - 96,688,469 - 96,688,469

(a) Under the Companies (Amendment) Act 2005 that came into effect on 30 January 2006, the concepts of par value and 
authorised share capital were abolished and the amount in the share premium account as of 30 January 2006 became part 
of the Company’s share capital.

 All issued shares are fully paid.

Share options 

The Yellow Pages Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted by the shareholders of the Company on 29 October 
2004.

Under the Scheme, share options are granted to employees of the Company or its subsidiaries (including executive directors) 
with at least one year of service prior to the date of grant and to non-executive directors of the Group at the absolute 
discretion of the Remuneration Committee.  There are no provisions under the Scheme permitting participation by directors 
and employees of a parent company and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group).
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27. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Share options (continued) 

The exercise price of the granted options can be equal to, higher than or set at a discount to the average of the last dealt 
prices of the Company’s ordinary shares on the SGX-ST for the five consecutive trading days immediately preceding the date 
of grant (“Market Price”).  The discount granted shall not exceed 20% of the Market Price.  

The vesting of granted options is conditional on the Group achieving its targets of profitability and subject to individual 
performance of the participant.  The options are exercisable, upon vesting, for varying contractual option terms of up to ten 
years after the date of grant.  The options may be exercised in full or in part in respect of 1,000 shares or a multiple thereof, on 
the payment of the exercise price.  The persons to whom the options have been issued have no right to participate by virtue 
of the options in any share issue of any other company.  The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or 
settle the options in cash.

No option has been granted under the Scheme except for the options granted (“Options Exchange”) in place of the outstanding 
and unexercised share options granted by the previous holding corporation, Asia Directory S.à r.l in respect of the shares in 
Asia Directory S.à r.l held by some members of the management, which were terminated on the date of the Company’s listing 
on the Main Board of the SGX-ST on 9 December 2004.

Options to subscribe for a total of 1,264,103 ordinary shares of the Company with an exercise price of $1.66 per ordinary share 
were granted pursuant to the Options Exchange on 9 December 2004 and are exercisable for a period of 10 years after the 
date of grant subject to the following vesting schedule :

Vesting Period
Proportion of total share 

options that are exercisable

The day after the first anniversary of the date of grant   25% of grant 
30 June 2006   50% of grant 
30 June 2007   75% of grant 
30 June 2008 100% of grant

Movements in the number of share options to subscribe for ordinary shares outstanding at the end of the financial year were 
as follows :

Number of ordinary shares under option outstanding

Beginning of 
financial

year

Granted 
during 

financial 
year

Forfeited 
during 

financial 
year

Exercised 
during 

financial 
year

End of 
financial 

year
Exercise 

Price Exercise period

Group and Company
2007
Options Exchange  1,264,103 - - - 1,264,103 $1.66 10.12.2005 - 8.12.2014

2006
Options Exchange  1,264,103 - - - 1,264,103 $1.66 10.12.2005 - 8.12.2014

Out of the outstanding options on 1,264,103 shares (2006: 1,264,103), options on 632,051 shares (2006: 316,025) are exercisable.
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28. RETAINED EARNINGS

(a) Retained earnings of the Group and the Company are distributable except for accumulated retained earnings of associated 
companies of $532,241 (2006: $502,311) which are included in the Group’s retained earnings.

(b) Movements in retained earnings for the Company were as follows :
Company

2007 2006
$ $

Beginning of financial year 10,830,942 22,251,118
Net profit 12,448,839 13,554,094
Dividends paid (Note 29) (12,645,200) (24,974,270)
End of financial year 10,634,581 10,830,942

 Movements in retained earnings for the Group are shown in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.

29. DIVIDENDS
Group and Company

2007 2006
$ $

Ordinary dividends paid or proposed
Final exempt (one-tier) dividends paid in respect of the previous financial year of 

4.5 cents (2006: 11.8 cents) per share 7,112,925 18,651,670
Interim exempt (one-tier) dividends paid in respect of the current financial year of 

3.5 cents (2006: 4.0 cents) per share 5,532,275 6,322,600
12,645,200 24,974,270

For the financial year ended 31 March 2007, the Board of Directors has proposed a final exempt (one-tier) dividend of 4.0 
cents per ordinary share.  As the dividend proposal is subject to approval at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the 
Company, these financial statements do not reflect this dividend, which will be accounted for in the shareholders’ equity as 
an appropriation of retained earnings in the financial year ending 31 March 2008.
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30. COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at the balance sheet date but not recognised in the financial statements is as follows :

Group and Company
2007 2006

$ $

Intangible assets – software development costs 80,035 4,577
Property, plant and equipment 6,530 -

86,565 4,577

(b) Operating lease commitments – where a group company is a lessee

The Group leases certain computer and office equipment under non-cancellable operating lease agreements.  The leases 
have varying terms and renewal rights.

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the balance sheet 
date but not recognised as liabilities, are analysed as follows :

Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006
$ $ $ $

Not later than one year 355,670 281,112 320,989 249,250
Between two and five years 145,659 292,029 120,247 250,006

501,329 573,141 441,236 499,256

(c) Operating lease commitments – where a group company is a lessor

The Group leases out excess office space that it owns under non-cancellable operating lease agreements.  The leases have 
varying terms and renewal rights.

The future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the balance sheet date but 
not recognised as receivables, are analysed as follows :

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

$ $ $ $

Not later than one year 1,269,574 1,354,512 1,178,063 1,262,898
Between two and five years 1,032,226 1,319,467 1,032,226 1,319,467

2,301,800 2,673,979 2,210,289 2,582,365
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors

 The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of fi nancial risks, including the effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and 
interest rates.  The Group’s overall risk management programme seeks to minimise potential adverse effects of the unpredictability 
of fi nancial markets on the Group’s fi nancial performance.  Derivative fi nancial instruments such as foreign exchange contracts have 
been used to hedge certain exposures.  Derivative counterparties are limited to high credit quality fi nancial institutions.

(i)   Currency risk

The currency risk of the Group arises mainly from the Company’s long-term directory paper purchase contract 
denominated in US Dollars. The Company has entered into forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge against its 
foreign exchange risk resulting from its contractual commitments.  

.
(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks
 

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates.  Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest rate risk mainly arises from non-current borrowings.  The Company’s interest rate risk mainly 
arises from non-current borrowings and a loan to a subsidiary.  The borrowings and loan to a subsidiary at fixed rates 
do not expose the Group and the Company to cash flow interest rate risk, but expose the Group and the Company to fair 
value interest rate risk.

The Group has cash balances placed with certain reputable banks in the form of short-term deposits which generate 
interest income for the Group.  The interest income is subject to changes in market interest rates or cash flow interest 
rate risk.
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks (continued)

The table below sets out the Group and the Company’s exposure to interest rate risks.  Included in the table are the 
assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates.

Group

Variable rates Fixed rates

Less than 
6 months

6 to 12 
months

 
1 to 5
 years

1 to 5 
years

Over 
5 years

Non-
interest 
bearing Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

At 31 March 2007
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 27,372,557 - - - - 4,337,905 31,710,462
Trade and other receivables - - - - - 17,818,093 17,818,093
Investments - - - - - 2,341,132 2,341,132
Property, plant and equipment - - - - - 18,515,885 18,515,885
Intangible assets - - - - - 174,476,949 174,476,949
Other assets - - - - - 9,632,529 9,632,529
Total assets 27,372,557 - - - - 227,122,493 254,495,050

Liabilities
Borrowings - - - 129,572,830 - - 129,572,830
Other liabilities - - - - - 17,963,773 17,963,773
Total liabilities - - - 129,572,830 - 17,963,773 147,536,603

At 31 March 2006
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 26,834,731 - - - - 4,048,911 30,883,642
Trade and other receivables - - - - - 16,974,284 16,974,284
Investments - - - - - 2,382,127 2,382,127
Property, plant and equipment - - - - - 19,294,082 19,294,082
Intangible assets - - - - - 174,355,931 174,355,931
Other assets - - - - - 8,519,963 8,519,963
Total assets 26,834,731 - - - - 225,575,298 252,410,029

Liabilities
Borrowings - - - 129,401,962 - - 129,401,962
Other liabilities - - - - - 14,655,145 14,655,145
Total liabilities - - - 129,401,962 - 14,655,145 144,057,107
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks (continued)

Company

Variable rates Fixed rates

Less than 
6 months

6 to 12 
months

 
1 to 5 
years

1 to 5 
years

Over 
5 years

Non-
interest 
bearing Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

At 31 March 2007
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 27,372,557 - - - - 4,016,743 31,389,300
Trade and other receivables - - - 745,931 330,635 17,613,319 18,689,885
Investments - - - - - 2,312,747 2,312,747
Property, plant and equipment - - - - - 16,825,562 16,825,562
Intangible assets - - - - - 173,713,998 173,713,998
Other assets - - - - - 8,485,605 8,485,605
Total assets 27,372,557 - - 745,931 330,635 222,967,974 251,417,097

Liabilities
Borrowings - - - 129,572,830 - - 129,572,830
Other liabilities - - - - - 17,093,905 17,093,905
Total liabilities - - - 129,572,830 - 17,093,905 146,666,735

At 31 March 2006
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 26,834,731 - - - - 3,523,447 30,358,178
Trade and other receivables - - - 725,030 489,326 17,274,562 18,488,918
Investments - - - - - 2,312,747 2,312,747
Property, plant and equipment - - - - - 17,492,383 17,492,383
Intangible assets - - - - - 173,603,150 173,603,150
Other assets - - - - - 7,216,104 7,216,104
Total assets 26,834,731 - - 725,030 489,326 221,422,393 249,471,480

Liabilities
Borrowings - - - 129,401,962 - - 129,401,962
Other liabilities - - - - - 13,832,991 13,832,991
Total liabilities - - - 129,401,962 - 13,832,991 143,234,953
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
 

(iii) Credit risk
 

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.  The Group has policies in place to review the risk profiles 
and credit history of customers before granting credit to them. The exposure is limited to the amount of receivable less 
allowance for impairment in the balance sheet at any point in time.  

(iv) Liquidity risk
 

The Group closely monitors and manages its debt maturity profile, operating cash flows and the availability of funding. 
The Group maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by management and ensures flexibility in 
meeting funding requirement by securing revolving credit facilities of $15,000,000 which are currently undrawn.

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The following transactions took place between the Group and related parties during the financial year :
 

(a) Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel compensation is as follows :
Group

2007 2006
$ $

Salaries and other short-term employees benefits 2,377,670 2,192,240
Post-employment benefits – contribution to CPF 73,082 82,464
Share options expense 69,768 162,433

2,520,520 2,437,137

Included in the above compensation was an amount of $104,695 (2006: $144,000) payable to the employers of certain directors 
while total compensation to directors of the Company amounted to $832,052 (2006: $893,461).

(b) Loan to a subsidiary

The outstanding loan to a subsidiary amounting to $1,076,566 (2006: $1,214,356) as set out in Note 16(b), is unsecured, bears 
interest at 3.0% (2006: 3.0%) per annum from 30 June 2003 and is repayable in annual instalments up to 1 April 2013.



88
YE

LL
O

W
 P

A
G

ES
 A

N
N

U
A

L 
R E

P O
R T

 2
00

7
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
 
(c) Income and purchases of services

In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following transactions took 
place between the Group and related parties during the financial year.

Group
2007 2006

$ $

Management fees earned from an associated company 
  – Forward Media Sdn Bhd 49,791 54,083
IT related service fees paid/payable to an associated company  
  – Integrated Databases India Ltd 208,746 209,606

Both income and purchases of services to/from associated companies were carried out on terms agreed between the two 
parties.  The management fees were charged for services rendered to Forward Media Sdn Bhd which included marketing 
and sales of advertisements and development of advertising strategies.  Fees paid/payable to Integrated Databases India Ltd 
pertained to IT related services rendered to the Company.

33. NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND FRS INTERPRETATIONS 

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published and they are mandatory 
for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2007 or later periods which the Group has not early adopted.  
The Group does not expect that adoption of these accounting standards or interpretations will have a material impact on the 
Group’s financial statements.

 

34. AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

These financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors of Yellow 
Pages (Singapore) Limited on 19 July 2007.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

35. LISTING OF COMPANIES IN THE GROUP

Name of companies Principal activities
Country of business /

incorporation
Percentage of 

equity held
2007 2006

% %

Subsidiary held by the Company

* Integrated Information (M) Sdn Bhd Selling of advertising space in Malaysia 100 100
Singapore and overseas
telephone directories
and magazines

Subsidiaries held by subsidiary

* Tourism Publications Selling of advertising space in Malaysia 100 100
Corporation Sdn Bhd telephone directories and 

publishing magazines,
periodicals, journals and 
directories

* Viva Bahagia Sdn Bhd To acquire property for investment Malaysia 100 100
and letting and general trading

Associated companies held by the Company

* Forward Media Sdn Bhd Selling of advertising space, Brunei 50 50
publishing and marketing of
directories and other
publications

* Integrated Databases India Ltd Publishing of yellow pages India 49 49
type of directories, trade
publications and consumers
and travel related publications

 
 * Audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers fi rms outside Singapore
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

(a) Material contracts

There were no material contracts entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries involving the interests of the 
Chief Executive Officer, any Director or controlling shareholder, either still subsisting at the end of the financial year, or 
if not then subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous financial year.

(b) Directors’ remuneration 

 The following information relates to remuneration of directors of the Company during the financial year :
 

2007 2006

Number of directors of the Company in remuneration bands :

- above $500,000 1 -

- $250,000 to below $500,000 - 1

- below $250,000 9 6

Total 10 7

 Remuneration of directors who have served for part of the financial year ended 31 March 2007 are as follows :

2007 2006

$ $

Robert Michael Tomlin - 64,000

Stanley Tan Poh Leng 5,400 -

Pang Yoke Min 6,200 -

Peter Christopher Buxton 4,700 -

Christopher Wilfried Heine 34,900 -

Stephen King Chang-Min 31,900 -

83,100 64,000
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

(c) Auditors’ remuneration

 The following information relates to remuneration of auditors during the financial year :

2007 2006

$ $

Auditors’ remuneration paid/payable to :

- Auditors of the Company 123,000 130,000

- Other auditors * 16,678 14,632

Other fees paid/payable to :

- Auditors of the Company 13,600 54,700

- Other auditors * 12,114 10,472

 *  Include PricewaterhouseCoopers firms outside Singapore.

(d) Properties of the Group

Location Existing use Tenure Years
With effect 

from
Gross floor 
area (sq m)

1 Lorong 2 Toa Payoh, Yellow 
Pages Building, Singapore Headquarters Leasehold 60 26.07.69 13,223

Ampang, Kuala Lumpur Office premises Freehold    -               -      1,368

(e) Interested person transactions

During the financial year, there were no interested person transactions entered into by the Group for which disclosure 
is required under Rule 907 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.
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Share capital

Number of Issued Shares :  158,065,000

Share Capital :  $96,688,469

Class of Shares :  Ordinary Shares

Voting Rights :  On a show of hands – one vote

   On a poll – one vote for every ordinary share

Profile of shareholders

Range of shareholdings
No. of 

shareholders      % No. of shares %

1 – 999 19 0.85 5,653 0.00

1,000 – 10,000 1,900 84.67 7,589,565 4.80

10,001 – 1,000,000 318 14.17 14,528,822 9.19

1,000,001 and above 7 0.31 135,940,960 86.01

2,244 100.00 158,065,000 100.00

Substantial shareholders 

As shown in the Register of Substantial Shareholders

% of 
share capital    

of the Company

No. of shares

Direct 
Interest

Deemed 
Interest

Total 
Interest

Global Advisory Group Pte. Ltd. 27,182,000 - 27,182,000 17.20

HSBC Holding plc - 12,057,000(1) 12,057,000 7.63

Marathon Asset Management LLP - 9,494,000(2) 9,494,000 6.01

Matthews International Capital      
Management, LLC - 8,138,000(3) 8,138,000 5.15

Stanley Tan Poh Leng 12,910,000 27,182,000(4) 40,092,000 25.36

Schroder Investment Management Group - 7,983,000(5) 7,983,000 5.05

Third Avenue Management LLC, 
on behalf of Third Avenue Global Value 
(Master) Fund L.P. 25,342,000 - 25,342,000 16.03

Notes:

(1) HSBC Holding plc (“HHP”) is deemed to have an interest in the shares which are held by HSBC Halbis Partners (Hong 
Kong) Limited (“HHP(HK)”), the manager or adviser of funds and client accounts that have an interest in the shares of 
the Company.  HHP(HK) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC Halbis (UK) Limited, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of HSBC Group Investment Businesses Limited, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC Investment Bank Holdings 
plc, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of HHP.

SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION
as at 25 July 2007
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SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION
as at 25 July 2007

Substantial shareholders (continued)

(2) The deemed interest of Marathon Asset Management LLP (“MAMLLP”) relates to shares over which MAMLLP has 
discretionary voting authority.

(3) The deemed interest of Matthews International Capital Management, LLC (“MICMLLC”) relates to shares held by 
various funds and accounts managed MICMLLC.

(4) Deemed interest by virtue of a more than 20% interest in Global Advisory Group Pte. Ltd., which is the beneficial owner 
of 27,182,000 shares registered in the name of HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd. 

(5) Deemed interest of Schroder Investment Management Group relates to the 7,983,000 shares held by the investment 
entities, viz., Schroder Investment Management Limited (3,000,000 shares), Schroder Investment Management 
(Singapore) Ltd (2,579,000 shares), Schroder Investment Management (Hong Kong) Limited (2,404,000 shares) and 
Schroder Investment Management (Japan) Limited (Nil).

Twenty largest shareholders 

As shown in the Register of Members and Depository Register

No. of shares %

Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 50,038,400 31.66

HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd 43,939,560 27.80

DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 19,107,000 12.09

United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 8,524,000 5.39

DBSN Services Pte Ltd 6,931,000 4.38

Raffles Nominees Pte Ltd 4,801,000 3.04

NTUC Thrift & Loan Co-Operative Limited 2,600,000 1.64

Merrill Lynch (Singapore) Pte Ltd 889,200 0.56

OCBC Securities Private Ltd 446,000 0.28

Goh Sik Ngee 351,142 0.22

Teo Leng Teow & Sons Investments (Pte) Ltd 302,000 0.19

Gani Mualim 300,000 0.19

Tan Chee Jin 275,000 0.17

Wang Wang Chew 245,000 0.15

ABN Amro Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 244,000 0.15

Chua Kee Tee 226,000 0.14

Oversea-Chinese Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 181,000 0.11

SBS Nominees Pte Ltd 160,000 0.10

Freddie Tan Poh Chye 150,000 0.09

Subbalakshmi Sivaram 150,000 0.09

139,860,302 88.44

Based on the information available to the Company as at 25 July 2007, approximately 32% of the issued ordinary shares of the 
Company are held by the public and therefore, Rule 723 of the Listing Manual issued by the SGX-ST has been complied with.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT THE 4TH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of Yellow Pages (Singapore) Limited (the “Company”) will 
be held at Mandarin Court 4th floor Grand Tower, Meritus Mandarin Singapore, 333 Orchard Road, Singapore 238867 on Friday, 31 
August 2007 at 10.00 a.m. to transact the following businesses:

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Audited Accounts for the financial year ended 31 March 2007 and the Directors’ Report and the 
 Auditor’s Report thereon.   (Resolution 1)

2. To declare a fi nal tax exempt (one–tier) dividend of 4.0 cents per share in respect of the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2007.  
        (Resolution 2)
3. To re-elect the following Directors who cease to hold office in accordance with Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of 
 Association and who, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election:

 (a) Mr Stanley Tan Poh Leng   (Resolution 3)
 (b) Mr Pang Yoke Min (non-independent member of Audit Committee)  (Resolution 4)
 (c) Mr Victor Ang (independent member of Audit Committee)  (Resolution 5)
 (d) Mr Ng Tiong Gee   (Resolution 6)
 (e) Professor Tan Cheng Han   (Resolution 7)
 (f) Mr N. Simon Meers (independent member of Audit Committee)  (Resolution 8)

4. To approve Directors’ fees payable by the Company of S$317,900 for the financial year ended 31 March 2007 (2006: 
 S$335,000).   (Resolution 9)
 
5. To re-appoint Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.  (Resolution 10)
 
6. To transact any other business of an Annual General Meeting. 
 
SPECIAL BUSINESS
 
7. To consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without any amendments the following resolution as an ordinary resolution: 
 
 That authority be and is hereby given to the Directors to:  (Resolution 11)
 
   (i) (a)  issue shares in the capital of the Company (“shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or 

     (b)  make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would require shares to be 
      issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) warrants, debentures or other
      instruments convertible into shares, 

     at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors may in their 
     absolute discretion deem fit; and 
 
   (ii) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue shares in pursuance 
     of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors while this Resolution was in force, 
 

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

     provided that: 
    
 (1) the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including shares to be issued in 
  pursuance of  Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed 50% of the issued 
  shares in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with paragraph (2) below), of which the 
  aggregate number of shares to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders of the Company (including 
  shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed 
  10% of the issued shares in the capital of the  Company (as calculated in accordance with paragraph (2) below); 

 (2) (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited 
  (“SGX-ST”)) for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued under paragraph 
  (1) above, the percentage of issued shares shall be based on the total number of issued shares in the capital of 
  the Company at the time this Resolution is passed, after adjusting for: 
 
  (i) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or share options or 
   vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time this Resolution is passed; and
 
  (ii) any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares; 
 
 (3) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions of the 
  Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST) 
  and the Articles of Association for the time being of the Company; and 
 
 (4) (unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting) the authority conferred by this Resolution shall 
  continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the 
  next Annual  General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier. 
 

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD
Yap Lune Teng (Ms)/Jean Wan Yen-Ping (Ms)
Joint Company Secretaries
Singapore
15 August 2007

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON ORDINARY BUSINESS

In relation to the retirement by rotation of Directors at the 4th Annual General Meeting, Dr Richard Charles Helfer is due to retire 
by rotation, but has given notice to the Company that he does not wish to be re-elected to office thereat.

STATEMENT PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 54 OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION OF THE COMPANY

Resolution 11 is to empower the Directors to issue shares in the capital of the Company and to make or grant instruments (such 
as warrants or debentures) convertible into shares, and to issue shares in pursuance of such instruments, up to an amount not 
exceeding in total 50% of the issued shares in the capital of the Company, with a sub-limit of 10% for issues other than on a pro rata 
basis to shareholders. The 10% sub-limit for non-pro rata issues is lower than the 20% sub-limit allowed under the Listing Manual 
of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. For the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that may 
be issued, the percentage of issued shares shall be based on the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company at 
the time that Resolution 11 is passed, after adjusting for (a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible 
securities or share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time that Resolution 9 is passed, 
and (b) any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares.
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NOTES

A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend and 
vote instead of him and such proxy need not be a member of the Company.  Every instrument of proxy shall be deposited at the 
registered office of the Company at 1 Lorong 2 Toa Payoh, Yellow Pages Building, Singapore 319637 not less than 48 hours before 
the time appointed for the Annual General Meeting.   

BOOKS CLOSURE AND PAYMENT DATES

The register of members and the transfer books of the Company will be closed on 10 and 11 September 2007 for the purposes of 
determining members’ entitlements to the final dividend. Duly completed transfers in respect of ordinary shares in the capital 
of the Company together with all relevant documents of title received by the Company’s share registrar, Lim Associates (Pte) 
Ltd, 3 Church Street #08-01, Samsung Hub, Singapore 049483 up to the close of business at 5.00 p.m. on 7 September 2007 will 
be registered to determine members’ entitlements to the final dividend. Members whose securities accounts with The Central 
Depository (Pte) Limited are credited with ordinary shares in the capital of the Company as at 5.00 p.m. on 7 September 2007 will 
be entitled to the final dividend.  The final dividend, if approved by shareholders of the Company at the Annual General Meeting, 
will be paid on 20 September 2007.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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PROXY FORM

YELLOW PAGES (SINGAPORE) LIMITED 
Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore
Company Registration No. 200304719G

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

PROXY FORM
 

I/We   NRIC No.                 of 

being a member/members of Yellow Pages (Singapore) Limited (the “Company”), hereby appoint :

NAME ADDRESS
NRIC/PASSPORT 

NUMBER
PROPORTION OF 

SHAREHOLDINGS (%)

AND/OR (DELETE AS APPROPRIATE)

  
or failing the person, or either or both of the persons, referred to above, the Chairman of the Meeting, as my/our proxy/proxies 
to attend and to vote for me/us on my/our behalf and, if necessary, to demand a poll, at the 4th Annual General Meeting of the 
Company to be held at Mandarin Court 4th floor Grand Tower, Meritus Mandarin Singapore, 333 Orchard Road, Singapore 238867 
on Friday, 31 August 2007 at 10.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.

I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Ordinary Resolutions set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting 
as indicated hereunder. In the absence of specific instructions, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain as he/they may think fit, as 
he/they will on any other matter arising at the Annual General Meeting.

IMPORTANT
1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy shares 
(“CPF investors”) in the capital of Yellow Pages (Singapore) 
Limited, this Proxy Form is forwarded to them at the request 
of their CPF Approved Nominees and is sent solely FOR 
INFORMATION ONLY. 
 
2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and 
shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or 
purported to be used by them.
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ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
NO. OF SHARES 

FOR*
NO. OF SHARES 

AGAINST*

1. To receive and adopt the Audited Accounts, Directors’ Report and Auditor’s
Report for the financial year ended 31 March 2007

2. To declare a final tax-exempt (one-tier) dividend of 4.0 cents per share in respect of 
the financial year ended 31 March 2007 

3. To re-elect Mr Stanley Tan Poh Leng as Director

4. To re-elect Mr Pang Yoke Min as Director 

5. To re-elect Mr Victor Ang as Director 

6. To re-elect Mr Ng Tiong Gee as Director 

7. To re-elect Professor Tan Cheng Han as Director 

8. To re-elect Mr N. Simon Meers as Director 

9. To approve Directors’ fees payable by the Company

10. To re- appoint Auditors and authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration 

11. To approve the proposed share issue mandate 

*  If you wish to exercise the votes in respect of all of your shares “For” or “Against”, please tick (√) within the box provided. 
 Alternatively, please indicate the number of shares in respect of which the votes are to be cast “For” and “Against” as 
 appropriate.

Dated this        day of            2007
TOTAL NUMBER 

OF ORDINARY 
SHARES HELD

 

 
__________________________________________
Signature(s) of Member(s) or Common Seal

IMPORTANT: Please read Notes on the overleaf.

PROXY FORM
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NOTES

1. If you have Ordinary Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), 
you should insert that number of Ordinary Shares.  If you have Ordinary Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that 
number of Ordinary Shares.  If you have Ordinary Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and Ordinary Shares registered in your name 
in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered 
in your name in the Register of Members.  If no number is inserted, the Proxy Form shall be deemed to relate to all the Ordinary Shares held by you.

2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend and vote instead 
of him.  A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be valid only if he specifies the proportion of his shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the 
whole) to be represented by each proxy. In the case of a joint appointment of two proxies, the Chairman of the Meeting will be a member’s proxy by default if 
either or both of the proxies appointed do not attend the Annual General Meeting. In the case of an appointment of two proxies in the alternative, the Chairman 
of the Meeting will be a member’s proxy by default if both of the proxies appointed do not attend the Annual General Meeting.

4. The Proxy Form must be lodged at the registered office of the Company at 1 Lorong 2 Toa Payoh, Yellow Pages Building, Singapore 319637, not less than 48 
hours before the time appointed for the Annual General Meeting.

5. The Proxy Form must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing.  Where the Proxy Form is executed by a corporation, it 
must be executed either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

6. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at 
the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

GENERAL

The Company shall be entitled to reject the Proxy Form if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not 
ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the Proxy Form.  In addition, in the case of Ordinary Shares entered in the Depository Register, the 
Company may reject any Proxy Form lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Ordinary Shares entered against his name in the Depository 
Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

PROXY FORM
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